
 
 

 
 

 
NOTIFICATION TO ATTEND MEETING OF THE SOUTH CENTRAL AREA COMMITTEE 

 
TO BE HELD IN THE COUNCIL CHAMBER, CITY HALL, DAME STREET, DUBLIN 2. 

 
ON WEDNESDAY 20 NOVEMBER 2019 AT 3.00 PM 

 

 
AGENDA 

 
WEDNESDAY 20 NOVEMBER 2019

  PAGE 
 
1   Minutes of Meeting held on 16th October 2019   

 
3 - 30 

2   Questions to the Director of Services South City   
 

31 - 36 

3   Roads & Traffic Matters 
 

1. Minutes of Traffic Advisory Group held on the 22nd October 2019 in 
relation to Traffic Matters in the South Central Area.  

2. Traffic Service Request Status Report at 18th October 2019.  
 

37 - 52 

4   South Central Area Matters 
 

1. Presentation on Update on Industrial Lands Study & Proposed 
Draft Variation to the City Development Plan.  

2. Presentation on Notification of initiation under Part VIII 
Planning and Development Regulations 2001 (as amended), 
Dolphin House Phase 2 – Proposed demolition of 2 blocks 
nos. 45-68 and 69-92), Dolphin House, Dublin 8  

3. Schedule of Lighting of Christmas Trees in the South Central Area. 
4. Halloween 2019 Report South Central Area.   
5. Director of Service’s  Report. 

 

53 - 58 

5   Community, Culture, Economic and Emergency Services 
 

1. Public Library Events for November 2019 – South Central Area  
2. Sports and Recreation report for November 2019 – South Central 

Area  
 

59 - 74 

6   Planning & Economic Development Matters 
 

      1. Proposed grant of licence of Car Park Space No. 4 at La Rochelle 
Car Park, Lamb Alley, Dublin 8. 

       2. Proposed grant of licence of Car Park Space Nos 6, 7 & 50 at La 
Rochelle Car Park, Lamb Alley, Dublin 8. 

3. Initiation of the Statutory Process for the Proposed Addition of the 

75 - 80 



 

Former Guinness Power Station, Guinness Brewery, James’s 
Street, Dublin 8 to the Record of Protected Structures in 
accordance with Section 54 and 55 of the Planning and 
Development Act, 2000 (as amended). 

 
7   Emergency Motions   

 
 

8   November 2019 Motions 
 

DUBLIN CITY COUNCIL 
SOUTH CENTRAL AREA COMMITTEE 

20th November 2019 
 
M. 18  Councillor Críona Ní Dhálaigh 

That this Area Committee send sincere condolences to the family 
of Neeraj Jain, the young cyclist who was killed at the junction of South 
Circular Road and St James Hospital, Rialto, and call for an immediate 
safety audit of this junction. Local reps and residents have raised their 
concerns re safety at his junction for some time now. Can the council 
please consider introducing the scheme that exists in London whereby 
lorries, without safety measures to protect pedestrians and cyclists, face a 
fine of 550e. 
 

M. 19 Councillor Daithí Doolan 
This Area Committee takes the opportunity to thank Dublin City Council’s 
local area staff, the Gardaí and the local services for working together to 
ensure Halloween was a safe and enjoyable time for the community.   

 
M. 20 Councillor Rebecca Moynihan 

In light of the traffic death of a cyclist on Friday 1st November, this Area 
Committee agrees to an immediate safety audit of SCR/Brookfield road 
junction and the area outside Kilmainham shops for cyclists and 
pedestrians.  

 
M. 21 Councillor Críona Ní Dhálaigh 

That this Area Committee support the residents of Oliver Bond in their 
demand to have a fit for purpose community centre built and that this be 
done as soon as possible.  The old rat infested centre is to be demolished, 
but as of yet there is no time frame for a much needed modern community 
centre to replace it. It is vital that a community centre is built here that will 
serve the whole community. 
 

M. 22 Councillor Daithí Doolan 
This Area Committee welcomes the adaption of the Cherry Orchard LAP. 
It is essential that the Implementation Group is established as soon as 
possible and that the community are included in its structure.  

 
M. 23 Councillor Rebecca Moynihan 

This Area Committee agrees to complete a safety audit and junction re-
design of Cornmarket.  

 
M. 24 Councillor Rebecca Moynihan 

This Area Committee agrees to do a traffic audit of the Tenters/SCR with a 
view to establishing the parking capacity of the area and what steps can 
be taken to ease traffic congestion in the area.  

 

 

 



1 
 

 
 

 
MINUTES OF THE SOUTH CENTRAL AREA COMMITTEE MEETING 

 
HELD ON WEDNESDAY 16 OCTOBER 2019 

 
 

 
 
1   Minutes of Meeting held on 18th September 2019   

Order: Agreed.   
 

 

2   Questions to the Director of Services South City 
Order: Replies to Questions and the Director of Services report circulated. 
 

 

3   Roads & Traffic Matters 
1. Minutes of Traffic Advisory Group held on the 24th September 2019 in 

relation to Traffic Matters in the South Central Area.  
2. Traffic Service Request Status Report at 15th September 2019. 
Order:  1. Report noted.    
             2. Report noted. 
 

 

4   South Central Area Matters 
1. Presentation on Strategic Housing Development Application No. 

SHD0018/19  for  a portion of the Brewery Block, Dublin 8, (Bord Pleanala 
No. 305324-19). 

2. Report on the Public Domain and CommunityInitiatives for the Halloween 
period in the South Central area. 

3. Naming and numbering proposal for a new development on aite at the 
former Dulux Factory site, Davitt Road, Dublin 12.at 8 – 9 Camac Park, 
Bluebell, Dublin 12. 

4. Director of Service’s  Report 
     Order:  1.  Presentation given by Robert Brereton, Assistant Planner. 

Members made observations on the application which will be 
factored into the submission to An Bord Pleanala. Presentation 
noted. 

            2.    Report noted. 
   3.   Report noted 

     4.   A report was given and was noted by the Members, (see    
 attachment). 

 

5 - 14 

5   Community, Culture, Economic and Emergency Services 
1. Public Library Events for October 2019 – South Central Area  
2.   Sports and Recreation Report for October 2019 – South Central Area  

      Order:  1. Report noted.    
       2. Report noted. 

 
 
 

 

Page 3



2 
 

6   Planning & Economic Development Matters 
1. Proposed grant of a further licence of part of the premises known as the 

Bluebell Community & Youth Centre, Bluebell Road, Dublin 12. 
2. Proposed grant of a lease for the premises known as Convent Lawns 

Community Centre, Off Kylemore Road, Ballyfermot, Dublin 10 to Teanga 
Beo Baile Formaid Cuideachta Faoi Theorainn Ráthaiochta CLG. 

 Order: 1.       Agreed. Recommend to Council.   
                2.       Agreed. Recommend to Council.   

 

 

7   Emergency Motions 
The order of business was suspended to deal with the following Emergency 
Motions: - 

 
Emergency Motion No.  from Councillors Críona Ní Dhálaigh, Tina 
MacVeigh, Vincent Jackson, Michael Watters, Rebecca Moynihan, Michael 
Pidgeon 
This Area Committee welcomes the Development Framework Plan for the St 
Michael’s Estate.  However, this Committee agrees that: 
 the development of a Master Plan, the next welcome step in the 

development of St Michael's Estate, must have the lessons and 
experience of the local community and recent consultations stitched into it 
and must be underpinned by clear and comprehensive consultation which 
will:  
o actively include the Inchicore Regeneration Consultative     

     Forum from the outset;  
o actively include all community stakeholders;  
o be underpinned by a clear and transparent process of public               
            consultation which allows sufficient time for meaningful consultation;  
o be adequately resourced;  
o have demonstrable output. 

Order: Agreed. Motion taken without Debate. 
 
Emergency Motion No. 2 from Councillors Tina MacVeigh, Críona Ní 
Dhálaigh, Rebecca Moynihan, Michael Pidgeon 
Martin Keane announced this weekend that he intends to apply for planning 
permission to develop the Iveagh Markets and that he intends to throw a 
considerable amount of resources behind a legal challenge to his right to develop 
the Markets. 
 
This Area Committee calls on the Law Agent to exercise the right of the Local 
Authority (as established by the 1976 Frascati Case) to establish whether a third 
party has the legal right to apply for planning permission by initiating a High Court 
injunction so as to establish that he does not have sufficient legal interest to apply 
for planning permission for the Iveagh Markets site. 
Order: Agreed. 
 
Emergency Motion No 3 from Councillors Daithí Doolan,  Sophie Nicoullaud, 
Hazel de Nortúin,  Daithí De Róiste, Cllr Vincent Jackson 
This Area Committee condemns criminality in the strongest possible terms and 
expresses deep concern at reports of payments being made to criminal gangs in 
order to allow the construction of housing in Cherry Orchard.  We call on Dublin 
City Council to make the findings of their investigation public and to ensure 
appropriate action is taken. Criminal gangs must be tackled head on by Gardaí 
and must not be allowed to hold communities to ransom. 
Order: Agreed. 
 
 

 

Page 4



3 
 

8   October 2019 Motions 
 

DUBLIN CITY COUNCIL 
SOUTH CENTRAL AREA COMMITTEE 

16th OCTOBER 2019 
 
 
M.14 Councillor Rebecca Moynihan and Councillor Michael Pidgeon 

This Area Committee asks for the Director of Services to give a report on 
the cost of financing segregated 24 hour cycle lanes along the following 
routes:-  

a. Emmet Road, Old Kilmainham, James Street, Thomas St, 
Cornmarket 

b. SCR to Phoenix Park  
c. Inchicore Road to SCR  
d. Dolphins Barn, Cork Street, Coombe to Patrick Street. 

Order: Agreed. It was agreed that a separate meeting be held with 
Traffic Engineers to discuss cycling issues in the South Central 
Area. 

  
M.15 Councillor Vincent Jackson 

Can I, with the Ballyfermot Tribute Garden Committee, sincerely thank 
Dublin City Council staff, under the stewardship of Kay Noonan, for their 
wonderful support in making a wonderful occasion happen in Ballyfermot 
on the 28th of September last. The funding made available from the 
Discretionary Fund, Parks Department Staff, Civic Centre Staff etc. The 
occasion was very well attended by all the emergency services and well 
done to all. 
Order: Agreed.  

 
M.16 Councillor Rebecca Moynihan & Councillor Michael Pidgeon 

This Area Committee ask that a contra flow cycle lane be installed along 
Watling Street. 
Order: Agreed. It was agreed that a separate meeting be held with 
Traffic Engineers to discuss cycling issues in the South Central 
Area. 
 

M.17 Councillor Vincent Jackson and Councillor Sophie Nicoullaud 
That Dublin City Council, in tandem with South Dublin Co Council, work to 
address serious ongoing lack of maintenance issues in the Camac Park 
Area of Bluebell, Dublin 12. Areas that need urgent attention include:- 

 Poor road surfaces 

 Poor levels of cleansing 

 Overgrowth from sites onto roads / paths 

 Car-Parking on Double Yellow Lines 

 Spot flooding due to lack of cleaning of shores for many years 
Residents would welcome an onsite meeting with road engineers to show 
issues which affect the quality of life in this little gem of an area. 
Order: Agreed. 

 

 

 
Vincent Jackson 
Chairperson 
Wednesday 16 October 2019 
 
 

Page 5



4 
 

 
Attendance: 
 
Members: Members: Members: 
Sophie Nicoullaud Michael Pidgeon Michael Watters 
Hazel de Nortuin Vincent Jackson Tina MacVeigh 
Rebecca Moynihan Criona Ni Dhalaigh Daithí Doolan 
 
Officers   
Mary Taylor, Director of Services South City; 
Bruce Phillips, Senior Executive Officer, South West Inner City; 
Kay Noonan Cork, Acting Senior Executive Officer, Ballyfermot Area; 
Niall O’Neill, Area Engineer, Traffic Management & Control;  
Cora Roche, Staff Officer, South Central Area; 
David Quearney, Acting Assistant Staff Officer, South Central Area; 
Cathriona Woulfe, Senior Staff Officer, South Central Area. 
 

  

   
 
Non-Members:    
Mannix Flynn Pat Dunne  
 

Page 6



1 
 

 

Director of Service’s Report 

South Central Area Committee Meeting  

16th October 2019 

 

 
Submissions from the Business Community to sit on Dublin City Council Joint 
Policing Committees 
Dublin City Council has advertised (Irish Independent 10/10/19) for submissions from 
members of the Business Community to sit on Dublin City Council Joint Policing 
Committees. All participants should clearly state whether they are interested in becoming a 
member of the Dublin City Joint Policing Committee or the Dublin South Central JPC. 
Submissions should include reasons for applying and relevant experience to date in the 
Business Sector. The closing date is 12.00 noon on Friday 8th November 2019 to 
ruth.treacy@dublincity.ie or by post to: - 
Ruth Tracy 
Secretary to Dublin City Joint Policing Committee,  
Housing & Community Services, 
Block 1, Floor 4, 
Civic Offices,  
Dublin 8. 
 
Community Grant  2020  
Community Grants Scheme 2020 applications are now available. Closing date for all 
applications is 5.00p.m. on the 8th November 2019.  All applications received after that 
time/date will not be accepted. Applications should be sent directly to: Community and 
Social Development, Block 1, Floor 3, Civic Offices, Wood Quay, Dublin 8 or email: - 
community@dublincity.ie  
 
 
SOUTH WEST INNER CITY ELECTORAL AREA 
 
South West Inner City Area Report 
 
Kilmainham Mill  
Our multi-disciplinary design team has tendered for a company to conduct some 
investigative digging along the Mill Race. All appropriate measures including licensing have 
been taken and DCC’s Archaeology Section will attend the dig. Detailed design drawing for 
the enabling works are currently in progress. We remain on track to tender for a 
construction company to carry out the main work in January. 
In September of this year DCC facilitated local school tours to the site. 
 
A Walk – Garden Installation at Richmond Barracks 
On Monday 30th September 2019 Lord Mayor Paul McAuliffe launched A Walk – garden 
installation in Richmond Barracks.  In early 2019 Joanne Byrne, artist, was commissioned 
by Eadaoin Ní Chléirigh, former CEO, Richmond Barracks and Ruairi O Cuiv, Public Art 
Officer, to create an installation in the garden of Richmond Barracks to commemorate the 
walk taken by the 1916 Rising leaders across the Officer’s Square to their court-martial 
trials held in the Officer’s Block.  The garden at Richmond Barracks now lies in the former 
Officer’s Square and the artist’s brief was to create a piece that should have physical and 
emotional elements that stimulate the imagination and promote contemplation and 
reflection of this historic walk.Artist, Joanne Byrne, who has a background  in graphic 
design, was drawn to a typographic approach and was inspired by an 1892 diary entry by 
Countess Markievicz  who wrote, “Nature should provide me with something to live for, 

Page 5Page 7

mailto:ruth.treacy@dublincity.ie


2 
 

something to die for The artist worked in association with A.D. Design who fabricated the 
lettering from corten steel.  An accompanying interpretative panel also created from corten 
steel has been installed to provide historical context to visitors. 
 
Public Realm Projects in South West Inner City 
 Francis Street Environmental Improvement Scheme – the invitation to tender for 

construction of this project is now finalised and will issue shortly. The project has a 
revised start date of January 2020. Advance utility works by Irish Water are 
expected to commence in January for a period of 6-8 weeks. The main paving work 
will commence thereafter. Advanced public information sessions will be arranged for 
early December.  

 Newmarket Public Realm Scheme - the Area Office is in discussions with 
Environment & Transportation Department to see how best to progress a permitted 

public realm project for Newmarket and adjoining streets.  
 Dolphin’s Barn Environmental Improvement Scheme – the Area Office is 

currently assessing whether some or all of the elements of this approved scheme 
can be undertaken as part of the BusConnects programme, given the area’s 
location along one of the main bus corridor routes.  

 Meath Street Environmental Improvement Scheme – Concept design stage has 
been completed and is now awaiting resources to advance it to preliminary design 
stage and Part VIII. 

 St Luke’s Avenue/The Coombe – a new signal arrangement and pedestrian 
crossing is currently under construction at the junction of St. Luke’s Avenue & the 
Coombe. Work is also underway to upgrade the public lighting along The Coombe. 

 
Greening Projects and Parks 
 Bridgefoot Street Park – Final preparations are now being made for this site and 

construction of this new community park is expected to commence by the end of the 
year. Is it expected work will continue to the end of summer 2020 followed by a 
period of ‘bedding-in’ to establish the park before it opens to the public. 

 Marrowbone Lane Greening – The project will permanently remove informal car 
parking from the hard-standing area here and create a raised planted area 
alongside the boundary of Summer Street flats, landscaped with trees and seasonal 
planting. The remaining hard-standing area will be resurfaced. Construction is now 
expected to start in January.    

 St. James’s Linear Park – the process to develop a masterplan for the parkland 
from St. James’s Hospital to Suir Bridge is ongoing.  

 St. Catherine’s Park, Thomas Court – work will commence shortly to reconstruct 
the main park entrance and make improvements to inside the park. The Area Office 
has previously engaged with the Crime Prevention Office and regularly meets with 
local Gardaí to raise the issue of antisocial use. We will continue to work to address 
antisocial behaviour in the park and support the wider community use of this 
amenity. 

 Reuben Street Trees - the Area Office and Parks Department are advancing a first 
phase of street tree planting on Reuben Street to take place over the coming winter 
planting season. 

 Gray Street/Coombe Court – the Area Office with Parks Department are installing 
2 no. new planter areas and making localised public realm improvements at these 
locations. New trees will be planted at Coombe Court in the coming winter planting 
season. 

 Bonham Street 
           The construction of housing will commence shortly at Bonham Street. The fencing 

protecting the construction site will be erected before the end of the month. This will 
be the first rapid build housing scheme in the South West Inner City and will be 

Page 6Page 8



3 
 

followed by two similar developments at Weaver Square, Cork Street, Dublin 8. The 
proposed scheme will include 57 apartments in 3 blocks with 26 1-bedroom units, 
26 2-bedroom units and 5 3-bedroom units.  

 
Community Report  
Social Inclusion Week 
Social inclusion week may have got off to a slightly gloomy start with the inclement weather 
forecast, but it certainly didn’t dampen the spirits of the people in the Liberties who came 
out in large numbers to support the various community events which included, a Health and 
Wellness day in the beautiful setting of Dublin’s Municipal Rowing Centre. Participants 
availed of taster sessions in rowing, yoga, and holistic therapies including: Reflexology, 
Indian head Massage, Aromatherapy etc. 
 
Historian in Residence 
On Thursday 3rd October, Dublin City Council’s Historian in Residence, Cathy Scuffil, 
presented her lecture “In the Time of the Tans” in St. Andrew’s Community Centre in 
Rialto.  Cathy gave a fascinating local account of happenings in the Dublin 8 area during 
the War of Independence. 
 
Baby Bee Festival 
The annual Baby Bee Festival took place in Oscar Square on Sunday 6th October. 
Here, local families participated in a range of artistic activities including storytelling, music, 
drama and dance. The main theme for this year’s festival centered on an old Irish folk tale 
about a fisherman. The stunning artwork and illustrations for the fisherman were on 
exhibition and will hopefully be mounted on panels in the coming weeks around the parks 
perimeter railings for the enjoyment of all. 
 
Public Domain Report for South West Inner City 
The City Neighbourhood awards ceremony was held in Croke Park on Thursday 26th 
September. The South Central Area had 4 overall winning entries. In The Residential 
Category: Rialto Cottages Won 1st Prize in the 1-150 dwellings;  The Liberties Cultural 
Association received an award for  IPB Pride of Place Category;  Michael Mallin House won 
3rd Prize in the Flat/Apartment dwellings The Dublin Community Clean–Up - Tidy Drimnagh 
in partnership with Inchicore Environmental won joint 1st Prize.  
 
A second Sustainable Gardening Course is currently running in the Dome at Flanagan’s 
Fields on Monday Mornings- Mary Carroll a radio producer attending the course intends to 
have a piece on ” The Last Word” on Today FM Radio shortly. This is an excellent 
promotional opportunity. Ring Street Dog Show was held in Jim Mitchell Park on 21st 
September. The event was very successful. All photos are posted to South Central 
Facebook with permission. 
Flyers  will be delivered to residents in the area with a Halloween Environmental Message 
and alternative family fun events listed on the back.  
 
 
 
BALLYFERMOT/DRIMNAGH ELECTORAL AREA 
 
Drimnagh Task Force  
The Drimnagh Task Force members received a presentation from the Easy Street 
Programme at a meeting on Monday the 14th October. It was agreed at that meeting to 
meet again on Monday the 21st to finalise the wording for a research proposal. 
 
 
 

Page 7Page 9



4 
 

Cherry Orchard  
All 72 houses in the CHI, (Co-operative Housing Ireland), estate have been let and all 
outstanding works have been completed. 
 
Elmdale (new build) 
53 of the houses at the Elmdale site have been let with the remaining 19 houses ready for 
letting this week. There are still outstanding issues relating to additional works on the 
periphery of the new build, which City Architects are in the process of resolving. An open 
evening will be held in St. Ultan’s School in November when all of the families have settled 
into their new homes. All community services in the area will be invited to attend and the 
Cherry Orchard Resource Centre will provide refreshments. The new residents from Orchard 
Meadows will also be invited to attend. DCC will support the Cherry Orchard Family Resource 
Centre to run cookery classes for the new residents from Wed. 6th Nov. using recipes from 
the 101+ Square Meals cookery book, which is included with each tenancy. Each resident 
will be supplied with cookery equipment, which they will own after the classes are completed.  
 
Cornamona Court  
The contractors, Cunningham Contracts Ltd., sent a formal request to increase the working 
hours at the site to facilitate the delivery of goods before school drop off times. It should be 
noted that these are the standard conditioned working hours identified by DCC Planning & 
Property Development. The working hours agreed are as follows: 
Mondays to Fridays 7am to 6pm 
Saturday- 8am to 2pm 
Sundays and Public Holidays – no activity on site 
 
3.8 Acre Field at Sarsfield House, Lower Ballyfermot  
Community consultations with residents in the immediate vicinity of the site will commence 
on Monday 21st Oct. at the Ballyfermot Resource Centre and Wednesday 23rd October at Fr. 
Bidone Court Common Room from 7pm to 8.30pm to discuss the development of the 3.8-
acre field at Sarsfield House. Representatives from Orione Care and DCC will be available 
on the night to discuss the proposed development. Notices and leaflets have already been 
distributed. 
 
Chapelizod, (Springvale Site) 
The proposed development of 71 units on the site is to proceed. A number of quotes to carry 
out the preparatory work at Liffey Vale for the installation of the allotments are under review 
by Parks. 
 
Claddagh Court  
Planters have been provided at the vehicular entrance to Claddagh Court to prevent parking 
on the footpath, which blocks visibility of the residents when they are exiting the complex. In 
addition, other measures to prevent parking on the footpaths are also to be carried out by 
Roads Department over the coming months.  
 
Environmental Works  
The Probation Service continue to work at various locations across the Ballyfermot/Drimnagh 
area. Their work includes litter picking, painting of exterior walls, cutting back overhanging 
shrubbery etc. A small number of skips will be managed from the Ballyfermot Area office 
throughout the Ballyfermot/Drimnagh area to help alleviate the buildup of rubbish that may 
be illegally collected and dumped on bonfires over Halloween.   
 
BusConnects 
A meeting was held on 19th Sept. between NTA and residents from Ballyfermot to discuss 
the impact of BusConnects on the village. The NTA were appraised of all the proposed 
developments in the area and issues that might be caused by some of the proposals. The 

Page 8Page 10



5 
 

NTA has agreed to take the comments on board and will look at incorporating further changes 
into the overall designs. A public forum was held on 2nd Oct. in the Hilton Hotel at which 
registered residents from Ballyfermot were able to attend to get further information.  
 
Tribute Garden  
On 28th Sept., the Lord Mayor officially opened a tribute garden located at Ballyfermot Civic 
Centre dedicated to the people of Ballyfermot and surrounding areas who are serving or 
formally served in the Defence Forces and emergency services. The garden, which 
includes a memorial, and benches donated by the Prison Service, is open to the public 
during business hours.  
 
Kylemore Park 
A meeting to discuss plans for the Park was held on Wednesday 16th October in 
Ballyfermot Library. Local residents were invited with staff from Parks, Ballyfermot Area 
office and An Garda Siochana in attendance.  
 
Ballyfermot Civic Centre 
Centre Management, Ballyfermot Community Association and Dublin City Council will be 
collaborating on hosting the Christmas Fare on Saturday December 7th from 12 noon to 
5pm in the Ballyfermot Civic Centre. Local individuals or groups can express their interest 
in a stall to display and sell their produce. More details will be available nearer the date.  
Discussions are taking place between Centre Management and Dublin City Council 
libraries around using the Centre for a book swap or incorporating the use of a mobile 
library, which would supplement the existing service.  
 
Cherry Orchard LAP 
As the Cherry Orchard LAP has now been approved at City Council, an inter-departmental 
implementation team is being put in place. 
 
Community Report 
 
Halloween. 
The City Council would like to acknowledge the great input of the following Youth and 
Community Groups to the Halloween events taking place throughout Ballyfermot and 
Drimnagh: 

 Ballyfermot Youth Service and Candle Community Trust 

 Familibase and The Orchard Centre 

 The Equine Centre and Cherry Orchard Integrated Youth Service 

 Drimnagh Residents Associations and Tidy Drimnagh 

 Our Lady’s Hall and Sing Act Dance Group 

 Saint John Bosco’s Youth Club 
In both areas local committees have been meeting since March 2019 to put the programme 
of events in place. 
 
Environmental Projects 
The City Council is providing daffodil bulbs to residents groups, local schools and 
community organisations in Bluebell, Drimnagh, Chapelizod, Cherry Orchard and 
Ballyfermot as part of the “Bulbs not Bonfires” Campaign.  
 
Maths Eyes School Project 
The Maths Eyes Project between St. Dominic’s College, Dublin City Council, and 
Technology University Dublin was launched officially in Ballyfermot’s California Hills Park. 
The project encourages young people to see maths in a fun and interactive way as part of 
their lives and not just in school.  

Page 9Page 11



6 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Lynch’s Lane Men’s Shed  
The final phase of expansion of the Men’s Shed based in the Ballyfermot resource centre is 
nearing completion. With funding from the 2019 Discretionary Funds extensive rebuilding 
works have enabled a near doubling of membership and facilities. The Men’s Shed’s 
progress is going from strength to strength developing environmental and carpentry 
programmes. 
 
International Men’s Day 
DCC is supporting a local Men’s Club called Video Craft who will launch their new video 
titled “The History of Dublin 12” on the 20th of November at 18:30 in Walkinstown Library.  
 
Community Festival 
The Ballyfermot Festival committee will hold an Open Meeting on Wednesday November 
6th at 11:00 a.m. in St. Dominic’s School to encourage community organisations to get 
behind the Ballyfermot 2020 Festival. 
 
Public Domain Report for Ballyfermot/Drimnagh 
The City Neighbourhood Awards proved to be very successful for The 
Ballyfermot/Drimnagh Area. Walkinstown Residents received 3rd Prize in the 300 plus 
dwellings category; St. Laurence’s Grove won joint 2nd for Green Space category, Seven 
Oaks received 3rd Prize in the Allotments section. Bluebell Environmental Group won the 
Endeavour Category and Cherry Orchard Community Garden won the Best New Entry 
Winner.  Ballyfermot Resource Centre received 3rd Prize for Community Garden.  La 
Touche Court’s Alex O’Callaghan won 3rd Prize in the individual Award for outstanding 
contribution to his community.   Tidy Drimnagh in partnership with Inchicore Environmental 
Group won joint 1st prize in the Dublin Community Clean–Up Category. This was a fantastic 
achievement for Ballyfermot/Drimnagh and the entire South Central Area.   
 
An Anti- Dumping Initiative took place over the summer months in the Cherry Orchard 
Area.  The entrance to Cherry Orchard from Park West was the focus of the campaign.  
The boundary of the development and housing sites on Park West Ave was treated and the 
rear of Barnville Park. Cleaning, painting, tree planting and installation of temporary CCTV 
was part of the initiative. Householders were also asked to provide details of their domestic 
waste disposal to public domain.  A Community clean-up was arranged for Saturday 14th 
September and members of the community from Ballyfermot, Cedarbrook and Cherry 
Orchard took part.  Flyers will be delivered to residents in the area with a Halloween 
Environmental Message and a list of alternative family fun events on the back. 
 
Kilmainham Inchicore Network 
NTA Bus Connects 
An NTA Community Forum Consultation with regard to Bus Connects: Route 7 – Liffey 
Valley to City Centre took place in the Hilton Kilmainham on 2nd October. The presentation 
included draft designs and "work in progress" which is on-going for the Liffey Valley corridor 
since the first round of consultation was completed in May 2019. Proposed Route 7 plans 
through Grattan Crescent have been revised, taking into account feedback from 
observations received. It’s suggested that the London Plane Trees are to be preserved and 
a one-way traffic system for cars is now proposed.  Plans along Emmet Road into James’s 
Street are still under further detailed design consideration. There will be another round of 
public consultation later this year when further developed plans and designs will be 
presented. It is anticipated that the formal planning application to An Bord Pleanála will be 

Page 10Page 12



7 
 

made during the middle of 2020.  For more information:  
www.busconnects.ie/initiatives/community-forum/ 
 
 
1B Site at former St. Michael’s Estate 
Public consultation took place around the proposed development at the “1b site” at the 
former St. Michael’s Estate site during late September.  The Inchicore Housing with 
Supports Demonstrator Scheme is a new model of housing for Ireland. It is a partnership 
between Circle VHA, ALONE, DCC, and the HSE and is supported by the Department of 
Housing Planning and Local Government and the Department of Health. 
 
The scheme will provide 52 homes for older people, both couples and singles, that will 
provide ‘life time housing’, support and promote independence and ageing in place.  Circle 
VHA will develop it with staffing on-site supporting tenants and a 24-hour presence on site 
will be provided by ALONE. A planning application will soon be lodged for this 
development.   
 
Inchicore Library - Part 8  
Proposed Access, Refurbishment & Alteration Works have been lodged; including new 
entrance steps, refurbishment and alteration of existing Library Building and the 
construction of a new 76 sq.m rear extension comprising of a Multipurpose Room, Staff 
Office, Toilet, Canteen and Ancillary Accommodation.  
 
Sense of Place Talks  
Three talks remain in the Autumn/Winter 2019 Series.  All FREE talks will take place on 
Tuesdays at 6.30pm, Kilmainham Courthouse: 
05-Nov  Eric Dempsey Birds of the Camac (Organised in collaboration with Dublin City           
             Council Water Framework Directive) 
12-Nov  Dermot Looney Richer and Poorer: A History of Richmond Park, the home of St. 

Patrick’s Athletic. 
19-Nov  Cathy Scuffil Housing Crisis 1918- 1925 
 
These talks are a collaboration between KIN, DCC, OPW and DCC Historian-in-Residence 
Cathy Scuffil. Tickets available at www.eventbrite.ie 
  
Inchicore Regeneration Consultative Forum 
Development Framework Plan (DFP) for DCC Emmet Road Site. 
The Consultative Forum delegates were given the opportunity to ask questions about the 
Development Framework Plan.  In total around 80 questions were answered by the Project 
Manager at a Forum meeting. 
 
Inchicore Regeneration Consultative Forum Education Subcommittee:  
This subcommittee is creating a strategic plan to assess and report on the future 
educational needs of Inchicore and Kilmainham.  There have been two facilitated sessions 
with Dr Gerry Jeffers, Maynooth University over the last four weeks.  The next meeting of 
the Education Subcommittee takes place 24th October 2019. 
 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 11Page 13

http://www.busconnects.ie/initiatives/community-forum/
http://www.eventbrite.ie/


8 
 

P
age 12

P
age 14



9 
 

 

Page 13Page 15



Page 16



DUBLIN CITY COUNCIL 
SOUTH CENTRAL AREA COMMITTEE 

16th October 2019 
 
Q1 Councillor Críona Ní Dhálaigh 
 To ask the Director of Services to report on the following: - 

(1) Under what remit does Dublin City Council give contracts to the private landscape 
companies who manage public green spaces in the Dublin 8 area, particularly 
(details supplied). 
(2) Who are they? Presently, these companies are using slash and burn methods, 
creating "green deserts." Showing no implementation of or regard for Biodiversity, 
Irelands "All Ireland Pollinator Plan 2015/20" which Dublin City Council have agreed 
to abide. 

  
Reply 
1) While our parks are maintained by direct labour there are a number of open 

spaces maintained by contract, this is an arrangement that has been in place for 
a number of years, which is satisfactory. 

 
The contractors were appointed following an E-Tenders competition held under 
the remit of E.U. procurement rules. The Contract award notice can be viewed at 
https://irl.eu-supply.com/ctm/Supplier/PublicTenders/ViewNotice/190484 

 
 2) The landscape contractors are primarily in place to maintain grassed areas and 

keep them cut. Dublin City Council is a partner to the All-Ireland Pollinator Plan, 
which is a national plan to prevent the decline in our pollinator species. As part of 
the Parks Service’s commitment to the programme, we have stopped using 
herbicide, which has knock on benefits to biodiversity  

 
Parks can contact the councillor directly to discuss specific areas, which may benefit 
from re-wilding. 
 
Contact: Brid Brosnan, Executive Park Superintendent, Parks Department 
Tel:  222 3144 
Email: parks@dublincity.ie 
 
The Area Office with the Parks Department has also added a number of flower 
planted areas including Dolphin’s Barn (linear strip) and Pimlico and is trialling the 
use of wildflowers at other locations (such as St. Catherine’s Graveyard Park).  
 
Contact:  Stephen Coyne, Programme Manager, Liberties Business Area Improvement 
Initiative 
Tel:  222 5180 
Email:  stephen.coyne@dublincity.ie 
 

Q2 Councillor Vincent Jackson 
To ask the Director of Services that the badly maintained area fronting (details 
supplied) be cleaned up, that the weeds etc. be removed and re-surfacing be 
included in the coming year’s works plan.  Residents on this tiny strip, which fronts 
the small pocket park off Ballyfermot Road, say it’s never swept or maintained even 
though hundreds of pedestrians use this small area on a daily basis walking to 
school, public transport, shops etc. Can I ask for it to be included in a cleansing 
schedule? 

 
 

Page 17

https://irl.eu-supply.com/ctm/Supplier/PublicTenders/ViewNotice/190484
mailto:parks@dublincity.ie
mailto:stephen.coyne@dublincity.ie


Reply 
Road Maintenance has inspected this stretch of footpath at this location and  

           will consider for possible inclusion in our 2020 minor works footpath contract.  
           This will be dependent on funding being available for Road Maintenance. 
 
 Contact: Carl Ryan- Operations & South Central Area Engineer. 
 E-mail: roadmaintenance@dublincity.ie 
           Tel: 2228812 
 

Waste Management Services had this part of (details supplied) cleaned on the 7th 
October 2019 and we will ensure that it is included in the regular cleaning schedule 
for this area. 
 
Contact: Mick Boyle, Senior Staff Officer, Waste Management Services   
Tel: 2224240     
Email: mick.boyle@dublincity.ie  

 
Q3 Councillor Vincent Jackson 

Can the Director of Services please request from (details supplied) that the exterior 
of their property be re-painted. Residents along Landen Road have shown me from 
their homes the poor state of the exterior walls of the above development, which 
needs regular maintenance. 

 
Reply 
The Ballyfermot Area Office will write to the management company and request that 
they paint the exterior walls.  We have no power to make them carry out this work. 
 
Contact:  Mary Taylor, Director of Services, South City 
Tel:  222 5112 
Email:  mary.taylor@dublincity.ie 

 
Q4 Councillor Vincent Jackson 

To ask the Director of Services to please look into the following (details supplied1).  
Dublin City Council in the early part of the 2000`S increased the width of the small 
access road fronting (details supplied 1).  This was a great success and the residents 
are able to keep the open green clean and tidy.  However, 4 years ago (details 
supplied 2) was sold.  The new owners have 4 cars and a van and have recently 
erected an illegal sign on the wall outside their home, telling others they cannot park 
here, despite the fact they have a very large and vehicle accessible back garden.  
Can I ask Dublin City Council to remove the illegal sign. If we allow same all will start 
doing this.  The sign was erected only last Saturday. 

 
Reply 
Signage was removed from (details supplied) on the 04/10/19. 
 
Contact: Michael J O'Brien, Traffic Officer  
Tel:  222 2773.  
Email: michael.obrien@dublincity.ie 

 
Q5 Councillor Vincent Jackson 

In view of the horrific images of Luas staff tackling a passenger at the Bluebell, 
Dublin 12 Luas stop, can we inquire from the Luas Operator if this is now the 
standard practice when tackling possible fare evasion etc.? I am well aware security 
staff can have a difficult job, however this behaviour is more akin to something from 
despotic totalitarian regimes. 

Page 18

mailto:roadmaintenance@dublincity.ie
mailto:michael.obrien@dublincity.ie


 
Reply 
This question is not a “matter of administration of the City Council for which the 
Director of Services is responsible”. Transdev can be contacted at The Red Cow, 
Naas Road, Clondalkin, Dublin 22, Tel. 01 4614910 or emailed at info@luas.ie. 
 
Contact:  Mary Taylor, Director of Services, South City 
Tel:  222 5112 
Email:  mary.taylor@dublincity.ie 
 

Q6 Councillor Vincent Jackson 
Can the Director of Services please give me an indication of what can be done, if 
anything, to deter residents from the keeping of equine in the front and rear gardens 
of their privately owned homes in communities like Ballyfermot / Bluebell etc. I find it 
hard to understand how we can allow this practice exist.  If we are to build 
sustainable communities, it is essential some ground rules exist to ensure people can 
live side by side. I regret many of these houses allow the same horses use our Parks 
/ Open spaces in the evenings / weekends. 
 
Reply 
Dublin City Council’s contractors are not authorised to seize horses from privately 
owned homes. If a horse is using our parks or is in the public domain, it should be 
reported to the Licensing Unit and arrangements will be made to seize the horse. If 
there is an indication that a horse is being mistreated the DSPCA should be 
contacted. An Garda Síochána may also be able to assist. 
 
Contact:  Patricia Colfer, Administrative Officer, Licensing Unit. 
Tel: 222 6710 

 Email: patricia.colfer@dublincity.ie 
 

Q7 Councillor Vincent Jackson 
To ask the Director of Services that serious consideration be given to the large family 
from (details supplied 1) be given a transfer to the large Dublin City Council bought 
property at (details supplied 2).  This family tragically lost a son 2 years ago to illness 
at the age of 12 years and they need a serious break. 

 
Reply 
The above applicant is on the Housing List with an application date of 18/06/2008, the 
applicant was awarded Welfare Priority on 17/10/2018, and the applicant holds the 
following positions on this list: 

 

Area  Bed size Position 

Area B 3 26 

Area B 4 5 

Area B 5 1 

Area E 3 33 

Area E 4 5 

 
Dublin City Council acknowledge the untimely passing of the applicant’s son and offer 
their condolences in this regard. It has been noted on the applicant’s file of their interest 
in the property at (details supplied 2). Dublin City Council allocate properties based on 
time on the list and currently there are applicants on the waiting list of longer standing 
who have to be considered as suitable vacancies arise. It is not possible to indicate 
accurately the prospect of an offer for any applicant. The number of vacancies arising 

Page 19

mailto:info@luas.ie


will be a determining factor in the length of time applicants could expect to be on the 
waiting list.  

 
Contact: Mary Hayes, Senior Executive Officer, Housing Allocations  
Tel:         222 2061                   
Email:     mary.hayes@dublincity.ie 

 
Q8 Councillor Vincent Jackson 

Can the Director of Services please look into the following housing application 
(details supplied).  Can Dublin City Council please indicate they can be considered 
for a house in Ballyfermot as a matter of urgency. The stress of travelling over to 
Ballyfermot every day for school is putting this them under terrible stress. 

 
Reply 
The applicant (details supplied) is on Band 2 of the Housing list for two and three 
bedroom accommodation with the following positions: - 

 
 87 for Area B  (Kilbarrack/Darndale) – 2 Bed  
 171 for Area B (Kilbarrack/Darndale) – 3 Bed 
 56 for Area K (Crumlin/Walkinstown) – 2 Bed 
 120 for Area K (Crumlin/Walkinstown) – 3 Bed 
 50 for Area J (Ballyfermot/Bluebell) – 2 Bed 
 74 for Area J (Ballyfermot/Bluebell) – 3 Bed  
 

I understand the household have been in contact with Central Placement in regard to 
a move into emergency accommodation in the Ballyfermot area. This has been noted 
and the Central Placement Service will contact the household if a placement 
becomes available in this area. 
 
Under the adopted Scheme of Lettings allocations are made based on time on the list 
and currently there are applicants on the Waiting List of longer standing who have to 
be considered as suitable vacancies arise. It is not possible to indicate accurately the 
prospect of an offer for any applicant. The number of vacancies arising will be a 
determining factor in the length of time applicants could expect to be on the waiting 
list. 
 
I can confirm that the household is eligible for the "Household Assistance Payment" 
(HAP) scheme which will greatly assist you in accessing the private rental market. 
This means that the household is eligible to be considered for one month’s advance 
deposit and one month rent in advance with differential rent payable to Dublin City 
Council. 

 
Access to/further information on HAP is available from the HAP unit on 
placefinders@dublincity.ie or 222 6955. 
 
The applicant can contact the Homeless Allocations Section on 01 222 2205 at any 
time to discuss her application. 
 
Contact: Mary Hayes, Senior Executive Officer, Allocations & Transfers 
Tel: 222 2062 
Email: mary.hayes@dublincity.ie 

 
Q9 Councillor Vincent Jackson 

Can the Director of Services please ensure that planned re-development of 
Ballyfermot Civic Centre, as promised last year, commences as a matter of urgency 

Page 20

mailto:mary.hayes@dublincity.ie
mailto:placefinders@dublincity.ie


and the possible re-location of services, which has the potential to ensure this fine 
building continues to be relevant and grow into the future. 
 
Reply 
An audit of existing facilities in Ballyfermot Community & Civic Centre is currently 
being undertaken. To date, a mechanical and electrical survey has been completed 
and an inspection report has been submitted to City Architects for consideration. In 
addition, a fire safety assessment, access audit and structural inspection has also 
been completed. When all reports have been submitted to City Architects, an 
appraisal of the information received will be carried out to decide how to proceed. In 
conjunction with these audits, regular meetings are being held with the building 
occupiers to keep them updated on any changes that may be required as part of this 
upgrade. 
 
Contact: Kay Noonan Cork, Ballyfermot and Drimnagh Local Area Manager 

            Tel: 222 4667 
            Email: kay.noonancork@dublincity.ie  

 
Q10 Councillor Vincent Jackson 

To ask the Director of Services to request that Dublin City Council, CDETB and 
Tesco Ballyfermot come up with a cleansing / maintenance plan for the jointly owned 
car park facing their property.  I regret with the bottle bank, clothing bank and fly 
dumping, the area can sometimes look in a very poor state and doesn’t do the area 
any good. 
 
Reply 
Waste Management staff visit this site daily to clean the site and remove any waste 
material. The contractors, Glassco and Textile Recycling Limited, also remove any 
waste in the vicinity when servicing the banks.  
 
In an effort to maintain this site Dublin City Council have installed CCTV cameras at 
these bottle banks.  
 
Contact: Fionnghuala Ryan, Exec. Environmental Scientific Officer 
Tel: 222 4562,  
Email: fionnghuala.ryan@dublincity.ie 
 

Q11 Councillor Críona Ní Dhálaigh 
To ask the Director of Services why it is taking so long to accommodate (details 
supplied). He is number 1 on the older persons transfer list and has been for some 
time. He has expressed an interest in suitable voids in Memorial Court (units that are 
void for some time now) but has still not been reached. He did refuse an offer a few 
months ago and was also shown a unit but the offer had to be redrawn as there were 
too many stairs and no lift. 
 
Reply 
The above applicant is on the Transfer Older Person’s Housing List with an application 
date of 01/07/1997, and the applicant holds the following positions on this list: 

 

Area  Bed size Position 

Area J 1 1 

Area L 1 1 

 

Page 21

mailto:kay.noonancork@dublincity.ie


The applicant has recently refused two offers of accommodation this year, firstly on 
24/04/2019 at 22 Bulfin Court and secondly on 29/05/2019 at 8 Garden View. The 
applicant’s interest in Memorial Court and 5 Gardenview Court is noted on his file. 
There is no medical information on the applicant’s file to support his need for a ground 
floor accommodation. It would be advised that the applicant submit supporting medical 
documentation in this regard. It is not possible to indicate accurately the prospect of 
an offer for any applicant. The number of vacancies arising will be a determining factor 
in the length of time applicants could expect to be on the waiting list.  

 
Contact: Mary Hayes, Senior Executive Officer, Housing Allocations  
Tel:         222 2061                   
Email:     mary.hayes@dublincity.ie 
 

Q12 Councillor Críona Ní Dhálaigh 
To ask the Director of Services to list the units at (details supplied) and state how 
long these units have been void? The date keys were handed back, timeframe for 
reallocation and if they will be turned around via framework or in-house? 

 
Reply 
We currently have two properties at (details supplied) that are being refurbished 
under Direct Labour, one is now ready to let and the other should be completed 
within the next 3 weeks. 

 
Contact:  Frank Darcy, Senior Executive Officer, Housing Maintenance 
Tel: 222 3517 
Email:  frank.darcy@dublincity.ie 

 
Q13 Councillor Críona Ní Dhálaigh 

To ask the Director of Services to inspect the walls at (details supplied). The dwelling 
was recently damp proofed but tenant reports that the walls are damp, cold and 
smelly again. 

 
Reply 
Dublin City Council will arrange for an Engineer from our Maintenance Section to call 
and inspect the property. 

 
Contact:  Frank Darcy, Senior Executive Officer, Housing Maintenance 
Tel: 222 3517 
Email:  frank.darcy@dublincity.ie 

 
Q14 Councillor Críona Ní Dhálaigh 

To ask the Director of Services if it is possible to put in place a system where 
everyone who applies for a choice based lettings unit gets a reply stating yes you 
have been successful  or no on this occasion you have not been successful? More 
and more people are contacting me frustrated that they don’t hear back on their 
application if they are not successful. 

 
Reply 
When the advertisement for Choice Based Lettings is released it is noted on the 
advertisement that only successful candidates will be notified within 4 weeks of the 
closing date. Currently Dublin City Council are dependent on utilising a manual 
system when processing Choice Based Lettings and due to the large amount of 
applications for choice based lettings it is not feasible to notify each unsuccessful 
applicant.  Dublin City Council anticipate the introduction of a new I.T. system, which 

Page 22

mailto:mary.hayes@dublincity.ie


will allow them to utilise a more user friendly system when processing Choice Based 
Lettings applications.  

 
Contact: Mary Hayes, Senior Executive Officer, Housing Allocations  
Tel:         222 2061                   
Email:     mary.hayes@dublincity.ie 
  

Q15 Councillor Críona Ní Dhálaigh 
To ask the Director of Services to list the voids for (details supplied) and the length of 
time they have been void. 

 
Reply 
The following are the available properties which are currently vacant in the South 
Central Area. All of these are currently being refurbished under the Term 
Maintenance Framework or by Direct Labour: 

Property No. Beds Total 

House  0 bed: 1 
1 bed: 5 
2 bed: 25 
3 bed: 15 
4 bed: 2 

48 

Apartment  0 bed: 6 
1 bed: 16 
2 bed: 44 

66 

Senior Citizens 0 bed: 9 
1 bed: 16 
2 bed: 2 
3 bed: 1 

28 

Total  142 

 
The properties have been vacant for the following timeframes: 

 

Time  Number 

0 to less than 4 
months 

69 

4 to less than 8 
months 

61 

Greater than 8 
months to less 
than 12 months 

12  

Total  142 

 
To date in 2019, 274 properties have been refurbished and re-let in the South Central Area 
including 99 houses, 128 apartments and 48 senior citizens’ units. Exact addresses are not 
provided but a list of locations has been sent to the Councillor by mail. 

 
Contact:  Frank Darcy, Senior Executive Officer, Housing Maintenance 
Tel: 222 3517 
Email:  frank.darcy@dublincity.ie 

 
 

Page 23

mailto:mary.hayes@dublincity.ie


Q16 Councillor Críona Ní Dhálaigh 
To ask the Director of Services who owns/is responsible for the footpaths/roads 
outside the visitor’s entrance to (details supplied).  Who is responsible for the 
operating of the horse drawn carriages outside (details supplied)?  There has been 
an increase in the carriages operating from there with what seems to be no rules or 
regulations. 
 
Reply 

1) The streets at (details supplied) are ‘in charge’. 
   
        Contact: Ronnie Hamilton, Senior Executive Technician, Roads & Traffic 
         Tel: 222 2546 
        Email: ronnie.hamilton@dublincity.ie 
 

2) There currently exists a 'legal lacuna' in relation to the Dublin City Council Control 
of Horse Drawn Carriages bye-laws. The Law Agent advised that the Council’s 
Bye-laws were invalid as primary legislation existed which gave An Garda 
Siochana responsibility for regulating operations. The Environment & 
Transportation Department has met with the An Garda Siochana and separately 
with the Department of Transport, Tourism and Sport (DTTAS) on a number of 
occasions in an attempt to regularise the current situation. DTTAS have reverted 
(September 2019) regarding arranging another meeting to include the Department 
of Housing Planning and Local Government. It is anticipated that this meeting will 
take place in October. 

 
Contact: Kevin Meade, Senior Executive Officer, Environment & Transportation 
Department.  
Tel: 222 2109  
Email kevin.meade@dublincity.ie 
 

Q17 Councillor Críona Ní Dhálaigh 
To ask the Director of Services what action has been taken regarding the request for 
a traffic safety audit around the St. Teresa’s Gardens building site? 
 
Reply 
Roadworks Control Unit (RWC) do not carry out traffic safety audits and are not 
aware of a request for a safety audit around St Teresa’s Gardens. 
 
However, whenever RWC are notified of a particular construction traffic safety 
problem we refer the matter to the construction site manager to investigate and take 
necessary action to address the problem and report back to RWC.  

 
Contact:  Conrad Rennicks, Senior Staff Officer, Roadworks Control Unit 

 Tel: 222 2281. 
 Email: conrad.rennicks@dublincity.ie 
  

The TAG section aren’t aware of a request for a traffic safety audit around the 
St.Teresa’s Gardens building site but the Area Engineer has met with the Area 
Executive Manager on site and are looking at the possibility of introducing parking 
restrictions to improve pedestrian safety and traffic flow along Donore Avenue. 
If Councillor Críona Ní Dhálaigh has any further questions or any more information 
on the issue, please feel free to contact me 
 
Contact: Niall O’Neill, South Central Area Engineer, Traffic Management & Control 
Tel:  222 6393Email:   niall.oneill@dublincity.ie 

Page 24

mailto:conrad.rennicks@dublincity.ie
mailto:niall.oneill@dublincity.ie


Q18 Councillor Michael Watters 
To ask the Director of Services if it is possible to repair the footpath outside Parish of 
Our Lady of the Holy Rosary of Fatima, Rialto, Dublin 8? 
 
Reply 
Road Maintenance surveyed the footpath outside the Parish of Our Lady of the Holy 
Rosary of Fatima in Rialto and one defect has been added to our works list for repair. 

  
Contact:  Carl Ryan, South Central Area Engineer. 
Tel:  2228812. 
Email:  carl.ryan@dublincity.ie 

 
Q19 Councillor Michael Watters 

To ask the Director of Services if it is possible to repair the footpath outside Liberty 
Court, Clanbrassil Street Lower, Dublin 8. 
 
Reply 
I visited the location on Friday and noted that this defect is currently on our works list 
and will be repaired within the coming month. 

  
Contact: Carl Ryan-Operations Engineer & South Central Area Engineer. 

 E-mail: roadmaintenance@dublincity.ie 
            Tel: 2228812 

 
Q20 Councillor Michael Watters 

To ask the Director of Services if it is possible to install a yellow traffic box on Old 
Kilmainham, Dublin 8 at the junction with Brookfield Road. 
 
Reply 
The request for a Yellow Box at the above location has been added to the agenda of 
Transport Advisory Group for examination and report by the Area Traffic Engineer, 
Enquiry No 7011708 refers. The Councillor will be informed of the recommendation in 
due course.  

 
Contact: Niall O’Neill, South Central Area Engineer, Traffic Management & Control 
Tel:   01-2226393 
Email:    niall.oneill@dublincity.ie 
 

Q21 Councillor Michael Watters 
To ask the Director of Services if it is possible to install more public lighting on 
Connolly Gardens, Inchicore, Dublin 8. 
 
Reply 
The existing low pressure sodium (orange coloured) lights here, which are mounted 
on ESB Network poles, are due to be upgraded to LED lighting. Prior to upgrading 
the lights, the ESB are due to carry out some minor works on their poles, and we are 
unable to change the lights until this work is finished. The installation of additional 
lighting will be investigated as part of a future project, subject to finances made 
available. 
 
Contact:  Dale Donnelly, Assistant Engineer, Public Lighting 
Tel:  222 4682 
Email:  dale.donnelly@dublincity.ie 
 

 

Page 25

mailto:carl.ryan@dublincity.ie
mailto:roadmaintenance@dublincity.ie
mailto:niall.oneill@dublincity.ie


Q22 Councillor Michael Watters 
To ask the Director of Services if it is possible to repair the road and footpaths on 
Bulfin Road, Inchicore, Dublin 8. 
 
Reply 
Road Maintenance has previously surveyed the footpaths on Bulfin Road and the 
defects that were recorded have been included on our works list for repair. 

  
 Contact:  Carl Ryan, Operations Engineer & South Central Area Engineer 
 Tel:  222 8812 
 Email: roadmaintennace@dublincity.ie 

 
Q23 Councillor Michael Watters 

To ask the Director of Services if it is possible to install a right turn filter light on South 
Circular Road, Inchicore, Dublin 8 at the junction with Bulfin Road, when coming  
Kilmainham towards the canal. 

 
Reply 
The Intelligent Transport Systems Section will carry out a review of the operation of 
the traffic signals at this junction and issue a follow up response in due course.  
 
Contact: Liam O’Brien, Executive ITS Officer 
Tel:  222 3836  
Email: liam.obrien@dublincity.ie 

 
Q24 Councillor Michael Watters 

To ask the Director of Services if it is possible to review the junction outside 169 
Herberton Road as road changes have made it dangerous for the resident to access 
her driveway with car. 

 
Reply 
The request to review the junction at the above location has been added to the 
Transport Advisory Group agenda for examination and report by the Area Traffic 
Engineer under enquiry no. 7011710. The Councillor will be informed of the 
recommendation in due course.   
 
Contact: Niall O’Neill, South Central Area Engineer, Traffic Management & Control 
Tel:   01-2226393 
Email:    niall.oneill@dublincity.ie 

 
Q25 Councillor Michael Watters 

To ask the Director of Services if it is possible to install traffic calming on Greenville 
Avenue, South Circular Road, Dublin 8. 

 
Reply 
The request for traffic calming at the above location has been added to the Transport 
Advisory Group agenda for examination and report by the Area Traffic Engineer under 
Enquiry No. 7009006. The Councillor will be informed of the recommendation in due 
course.  
 
Contact: Niall O’Neill, South Central Area Engineer, Traffic Management & Control 
Tel:   01-2226393 
Email:    niall.oneill@dublincity.ie 

 
 

Page 26

mailto:roadmaintennace@dublincity.ie
mailto:liam.obrien@dublincity.ie
mailto:niall.oneill@dublincity.ie
mailto:niall.oneill@dublincity.ie


Q26 Councillor Michael Watters 
To ask the Director of Services if it is possible to resurface the road on St. Mary’s 
Drive, Walkinstown, Dublin 12. 

 
Reply 
Road Maintenance has previously surveyed the footpaths and carriageway on St. 
Mary’s Drive and the defects that were recorded have been included on our works list 
for repair.  
 
Contact: Carl Ryan, South Central Area Engineer, Road Maintenance 
Tel: 222 8812. 
Email: carl.ryan@dublincity.ie 

 
Q27 Councillor Michael Watters 

To ask the Director of Services if it is possible to review the junction where 
O’Donoghue Street meets Ring Street, Inchicore, Dublin 8. 

 
Reply 
Following a recent site visit from the Area Traffic Engineer to the junction of Ring Street/ 
O’Donoghue Street it was noticed that there are speed ramps on O’Donoghue Street 
and Ring Street which are measured approx. 85 metres and 78 metres apart and are 
in accordance with best practice.  There are two “Stop” signs with associated road 
markings.  Failure to stop at a “Stop” sign is illegal and therefore, is a matter for 
enforcement by An Garda Síochána. 
 
Ref. No.  7010415 
 
Contact: Martina Halpin, Senior Staff Officer, Administration/Traffic Advisory Group 

 Tel:  222 2528 
 Email: martina.halpin@dublincity.ie  
 
Q28 Councillor Michael Watters 

To ask the Director of Services if it is possible to introduce recycling facilities, 
including glass recycling, to all public housing complexes in the South Central area. 
 
Reply 
Dublin City Council is committed to ensuring waste is disposed of in the correct 
manner at all council owned complexes. A project is underway to introduce both 
Green (mixed dry recyclables) and Brown (food waste) bins at all complexes. This 
project is initially focusing on the South East Area and it is expected that this area will 
be complete by the end of 2019.  
 
It is anticipated that the South Central Area will see the introduction of recycle bins at 
the beginning of 2020. Residents will be invited to a recycle workshop delivered by 
the environmental charity Voice Ireland prior to the delivery of recycle bins at their 
complex. 
 
At present, there are no plans to introduce glass recycle bins at any housing 
complexes. Residents are encouraged to avail of the network of 84 Bottle Banks 
located across the city. 

 

Contact: Seamus Brady, Public Domain Officer, Waste Management Services 
Tel:  222 4306 
Email: seamus.brady@dublincity.ie 
 

Page 27

mailto:carl.ryan@dublincity.ie
mailto:martina.halpin@dublincity.ie


Q29 Councillor Críona Ní Dhálaigh 
To ask the Director of Services what laws are in place to regulate horse carriages 
now that the Dublin Carriage Act is gone? 
 
Reply 
There currently exists a 'legal lacuna' in relation to the Dublin City Council Control of 
Horse Drawn Carriages bye-laws. The Law Agent advised that the Council’s Bye-
laws were invalid as primary legislation existed which gave An Garda Siochana 
responsibility for regulating operations. The Environment & Transportation 
Department has met with the An Garda Siochana and separately with the 
Department of Transport, Tourism and Sport (DTTAS) on a number of occasions in 
an attempt to regularise the current situation. DTTAS have reverted (September 
2019) regarding arranging another meeting to include the Department of Housing 
Planning and Local Government. It is anticipated that this meeting will take place in 
October. 
 
Contact: Kevin Meade, Senior Executive Officer, Environment & Transportation 
Department.  
Tel: 222 2109  
Email kevin.meade@dublincity.ie 

 
Q30 Councillor Críona Ní Dhálaigh 

To ask the Director of Services how many fines have been issued re road traffic 
violations by horse carriage drivers in the past 5 years and is it illegal to ride a horse 
through the city without a nappy sac and if so have any fines been issued re this? 
 
Reply 
Fines relating to road traffic violations would be a matter for An Garda Siochana. 
There is currently no legislation requiring the use of nappy sacs in the Dublin City 
Council administrative area. 

 
Contact: Kevin Meade, Senior Executive Officer, Environment & Transportation 
Department.  
Tel: 222 2109  
Email kevin.meade@dublincity.ie 
 

Q31 Councillor Críona Ní Dhálaigh 
To ask the Director of Services what is the timeframe for allocating (details supplied) 
and how many units will be available. 
 
Reply 
(Details supplied) will be ready for allocation before the end of the year. There will be 
a total of 39 units available.  
 
Contact: Dymphna Farrell, Senior Executive Officer, Housing & Community Services 
Tel: 222 6114 
Email: Dymphna.farrell@dublincity.ie 
 

Q32 Councillor Tina MacVeigh 
To ask the Director of Services to consider whether the trees on Donore Road, 
Dublin 8 are suitable for this road as residents have expressed concern that they 
may be blocking street lighting and / or interfering with overhead wires, and to 
consider either cutting them back or replacing them. 
 
 

Page 28

mailto:Dymphna.farrell@dublincity.ie


Reply 
There are streetlights on one side of the above mentioned street. Two of these lights 
are located in the vicinity of trees, whose canopy do not grow under the light. The 
overhead wires are a matter for the ESB to deal with. It is the Park’s Department 
opinion that the trees do not require pruning or replacing at this time. 
 
Contact: Brid Brosnan, Exec. Parks Superintendent, Parks Department 

            Tel: 222 5276  
Email: parks@dublincity.ie 
 

Q33 Councillor Tina MacVeigh 
To ask the Director of Services for an update on the status of (details supplied), who 
is on our housing list. 

 
Reply 
The above applicant is on the Transfer Housing List with an application date of  
10/08/2011, and the applicant holds the following positions on this list: 

 
 

Area  Bed size Position 

Area L 1 214 

Area M 1 162 

Area P 1 109 
 

It is noted on the applicant’s file that the applicant applied for a Medical Priority on two 
occasions and was unsuccessful on the following dates 20/11/2017 and 12/08/2019 
respectively. The applicant has the option to appeal this decision. 
Dublin City Council allocate properties based on time on the list and currently there are 
applicants on the waiting list of longer standing who have to be considered as suitable 
vacancies arise. It is not possible to indicate accurately the prospect of an offer for any 
applicant. The number of vacancies arising will be a determining factor in the length of 
time applicants could expect to be on the waiting list.  

 
Contact: Mary Hayes, Senior Executive Officer, Housing Allocations  
Tel:         222 2061                   
Email:     mary.hayes@dublincity.ie 

 
Q34 Councillor Tina MacVeigh 

To ask the Director of Services whether (details supplied) is the property of the Local 
Authority and if not, could it be put on our derelict sites list and could action be taken 
to address its dereliction. 
 
Reply 
This site will be inspected by the Derelict Sites Section and the Councillor will be 
replied to directly. 
 
Contact:  Bernie Mills, Senior Staff Officer, Derelict Sites Section 
Tel: 222 2330 
Email: bernie.mills@dublincity.ie 
 

Q35 Councillor Tina MacVeigh 
To ask the Director of Services for an update on the development of the park at 
Bridgefoot Street. 
 
 

Page 29

mailto:mary.hayes@dublincity.ie
mailto:bernie.mills@dublincity.ie


Reply 
The tenders for construction of a new park at Bridgefoot Street have been returned 
and the contractor is expected on site by the end of the year. 

 
Contact: Brid Brosnan, Executive Park Superintendent, Parks Department 
Tel:  222 3144 
Email: parks@dublincity.ie 
 

Q36 Councillor Tina MacVeigh 
 To ask the Director of Services for an update on the discussions between our 
Development Department and Martin Keane as to the development of the Iveagh 
Markets. 
 
Reply 
The City Council is still actively pursuing the most efficient means available to it to 
ensure that the Iveagh Market Building is refurbished and returned to beneficial use. 
Mr Keane was advised that the estimated cost of the stabilisation works would be in 
the region of €13m. The entire project has been estimated at circa €30m which has 
not been provided for in the Council’s Capital Programme. We are therefore awaiting 
his comments on the projected financial costs of the project before taking further 
action.  

 
Contact: Helen McNamara, Senior Executive Officer, Planning & Development 
Tel: 222 3488 
Email: helen.mcnamara@dublincity.ie 
 

Page 30

mailto:helen.mcnamara@dublincity.ie


DUBLIN CITY COUNCIL 
SOUTH CENTRAL AREA COMMITTEE 

20th November 2019 
 
Q1 Councillor Rebecca Moynihan 

To ask the Director of Services to request the Law Agent to provide a copy of all 
correspondence between Dublin City Council and the current owner of the 
provisionally disposed of site at the corner of Dolphins Barn and SCR since the 
disposal was passed by the City Council. To further ask the Law Agent for a 
breakdown of correspondence with outside Senior Council and the advice they 
provided on the matter.  

 
Q2 Councillor Críona Ní Dhálaigh 

To ask the Director of Services to investigate the public lighting at (details supplied 
1).  The lighting is quite poor on this stretch of road. There is an increase in footfall 
on the street/area due to the volume of student/tourist/hotels in the area. There has 
also been an increase in anti-social behaviour with cars being damaged, gardens 
being used as public toilets, clients from the local student/tourist accommodation on 
(details supplied 2) being extremely loud and at times fighting as they return to their 
accommodation. 

 
Q3 Councillor Críona Ní Dhálaigh 

To ask the Director of Services to report on the CCTV within our complex (details 
supplied).  Is there CCTV there? Does it work? How old is it? What standard is it? Is 
it of good quality? Is there a plan to upgrade it? Has it been used in any Garda/Estate 
management issues and, if so, was it used for prosecutions? I ask as residents have 
noticed an increase in open drug dealing on the stairwells (especially on Saturdays, 
anti-social behaviour by gangs of young people sitting on the stair wells. This is 
happening outside the community flat that hosts the after schools club. Residents did 
report to Gardaí but it has not improved.  
 

Q4 Councillor Críona Ní Dhálaigh 
To ask the Director of Services to consider the request of residents to have the 
lighting at (details supplied) improved/upgraded and to report on the cleansing rota 
for the complex. Residents have commented that the stairwells are much dirtier since 
the new anti-slip paint was put on the stairs as rubbish/dirt seems to stick to it.  

  
Q5 Councillor Críona Ní Dhálaigh 

To ask the Director of Services regarding (details supplied).  When is it being 
demolished? How long will it take to demolish it? What is the time frame to rebuild a 
centre from the community here? 

 
Q6 Councillor Críona Ní Dhálaigh 

To ask the Director of Services why it was necessary to fell the 3 mature sycamore 
trees at (details supplied).  Was there any consultation, notice given to local residents 
of this decision? Please see attached photos. 

 
Q7 Councillor Daithí Doolan 

To ask the Director of Services for an update to closing lane way at the back of the 
Ballyfermot shops opposite Tesco. 

 
Q8 Councillor Daithí Doolan 

To ask the Director of Services for an update and timeframe on the establishment of 
the LAP Implementation Group. 
 

Page 31



Q9 Councillor Daithí Doolan 
To ask the Director of Services to outline, in tabular form, how much was spent this 
year during Halloween on the removal of bonfire material and how much was spent 
on Halloween activities. 
 

Q10 Councillor Daithí Doolan 
To ask the Director of Services for an update on the complaint, (details supplied).  
This issue remains unresolved. An update would be very useful.  

 
Q11 Councillor Daithí Doolan 

To ask the Director of Services if it is possible to use skips again in early 2020, to 
take easy post-Christmas waste.  The use of skips during Halloween was very 
successful and welcomed by residents.   

 
Q12 Councillor Daithí Doolan 

To ask the Director of Services will the Rapid Build houses in Drimnagh be reverting 
back to Dublin City Council ownership at some stage in the future? 
 

Q13 Councillor Daithí Doolan 
To ask the Director of Services for an update on the proposed developments of the 
former OLV site, Ballyfermot and the Lar Redmond site on Keeper Road. 

 
Q14 Councillor Daithí Doolan 

To ask the Director of Services when will the work at Benmadigan Road pitch be 
completed?  The work to remove grass from the footpath around the pitch started but 
has yet to be completed.  
 

Q15 Councillor Daithí Doolan 
To ask the Director of Services for an update and timeframe on the Labre Park 
redevelopment plan. 

 
Q16 Councillor Rebecca Moynihan 

To ask the Director of Services to commence a tree planting programme along 
Herberton Road. This will have the effect of minimizing both the traffic noise and 
vehicle emissions along this busy road. 

 
Q17 Councillor Tina MacVeigh 

To ask the Director of Services to write to Irish Water to ask them about the ongoing 
works to repair the damage to the canal bank at Suir Road and to find out what was 
the problem identified, what are the works that are being carried out and a timeframe 
for their completion. Residents there report terrible smells as a result of the works 
and are anxious to know when the works will be completed. 
 

Q18 Councillor Tina MacVeigh 
To ask the Director of Services for a breakdown of the voids reported to us at the last 
SCAC meeting in the South West Inner City to include tenure type, number of 
bedrooms, timeframe for when refurbishment will be completed and they can go to 
offer. 
 

Q19 Councillor Tina MacVeigh 
To ask the Director of Services whether an applicant for local authority housing is 
allowed to have any financial savings that will not be included in an evaluation of 
income and if so, what is the upper limit to those savings? 
 
 

Page 32



Q20 Councillor Tina MacVeigh 
To ask the Director of Services to clarify whether an individual can live with his 
parents and also make an application for local authority housing? A resident has 
asked me to clarify as they were told as they lived with their parents (local authority 
tenants) they could not make an application in their own right even though they fall 
under the required income threshold. 
 

Q21 Councillor Tina MacVeigh 
To ask the Director of Services to request our Public Domain unit to clear the leaves 
along the SCR between junction SCR / Brookfield Rd and SCR/Suir road.  Residents 
report a hazard along the footpaths due to a large amount of fallen leaves and recent 
rainy weather. 
 

Q22 Councillor Tina MacVeigh 
To ask the Director of Services to investigate the car parking which has begun on the 
Rialto Bridge/SCR. It appears people are taking advantage of the lack of road 
markings and may not be aware of the rules of the road in relation to parking on 
bridges. Cars parked here are creating delays for traffic and a hazard. 
 

Q23 Councillor Tina MacVeigh 
To ask the Director of Services how many complaints have been received in the past 
5 months for waste illegally dumped at Rialto Cottages/Rialto Court. 
 

Q24 Councillor Tina MacVeigh 
To ask the Director of Services to request our Housing Department to repair the 
plumbing at the home of our tenant at (details supplied).  Our tenant reports works 
were carried out under her sink to address a leak in the adjacent unit and her 
plumbing has not worked properly since. 

 
Q25 Councillor Tina MacVeigh 

To ask the Director of Services whether she has had any communication with the 
OPW in relation to the parking issues at the War Memorial Gardens. I have made 
several attempts since June last to make contact with the Chief Park Superintendent, 
to no avail. 

 
Q26 Councillor Tina MacVeigh 

To ask the Director of Services to ask our Housing department why a commitment to 
cutting down a tree at our property at (details supplied) has not been undertaken.  
The residents living in the property to the rear have requested this for a number of 
years especially at the start of winter as they fear a strong storm could cause 
damage to the tree and risk it falling on their home. 

 
Q27 Councillor Tina MacVeigh 

To ask our planners for an overview of how one would go about initiating the process 
for the development of an Environment Improvement Plan. 

 
Q28 Councillor Michael Watters 

To ask the Director of Services if it is possible to open the 5-a-side pitch on the 
Player Wills site, Dublin 8 to the pupils of St. Catherine’s National School, Donore 
Avenue, Dublin 8. 

 
Q29 Councillor Michael Watters 

To ask the Director of Services if it would be possible to open St. Catherine’s Park, 
Dublin 8 from 7am to allow greater access to this amenity. 
 

Page 33



Q30 Councillor Michael Watters 
To ask the Director of Services if it is possible to install more public lighting on 
Haroldville Avenue. 
 

Q31 Councillor Michael Watters 
To ask the Director of Services if it is possible to install double yellow lines on the 
West side of the South Circular Road, Dublin 8 between New Ireland Road and 
Mount Shannon Road. 

 
Q32 Councillor Michael Watters 

To ask the Director of Services if it is possible to prune the trees on Bunting Road, 
Walkinstown, Dublin 12. 

 
Q33 Councillor Michael Watters 

To ask the Director of Services if it is possible to improve public lighting around 
Markievicz Park, Ballyfermot, Dublin 10. 

 
Q34 Councillor Michael Watters 

To ask the Director of Services if it is possible to install dog waste bins in and around 
Markievicz Park, Ballyfermot, Dublin 10. 

 
Q35 Councillor Michael Watters 

To ask the Director of Services if it is possible to prune the trees on Hughes Road 
North, East and South, Walkinstown, Dublin 12 

 
Q36 Councillor Michael Watters 

To ask the Director of Services if it is possible to prune the trees on the section of 
South Circular Road from the junction with Bulfin Road to the junction with Brookfield 
Road, Dublin 8. 

 
Q37 Councillor Michael Watters 

To ask the Director of Services if it is possible to clear the shores on South CIrcular 
Road from Leonards Corner to the junction with Donore Avenue, Dublin 8 

 
Q38 Councillor Michael Watters 

To ask the Director of Services if it is possible to prune the trees in Glenaulin, 
Glenaulin Drive and Park, Chapelizod, Dublin 20. 

 
Q39 Councillor Vincent Jackson 

To ask the Director of Services to look at the possibility of assisting Ballyfermot Youth 
Service with limited disability access to its premises at 41 Decies Road, Ballyfermot, 
Dublin 10.  The building, which is leased from Dublin City Council, is extensively 
used by the Youths & Community of Lower Ballyfermot. 

 
Q40 Councillor Vincent Jackson 

To ask the Director of Services to request that Parks / Recreational Service facilitate 
an onsite meeting between De La Salle GAA Club, Ballyfermot, and myself to look at 
the usage of the former Drumfinn Celtic Site at Drumfinn Road / Californian Hills Park 
Ballyfermot Dublin 10. 

 
Q41 Councillor Vincent Jackson 

Can the Director of Services explain is there anything we can do for residents who 
just happen to live beside very difficult families who create mayhem on a daily basis 
to our communities?   It doesn’t matter if these people are DCC tenant’s or Private.  
Can anything be done or do the many have to suffer for the actions of the few? 

Page 34



 
Q42 Councillor Vincent Jackson 

To ask the Director of Services to please try and resolve the following at (details 
supplied). There is an unacceptable accumulation of waste in the rear garden of 
(details supplied) from a HAP tenant.  Can this be addressed?  The neighbours are 
horrified that this carry on of never presenting a bin for waste collection is allowed go 
on and on and with Christmas around the corner they want action. 

 
Q43 Councillor Vincent Jackson 

To ask the Director of Services that I be given an update on the housing application 
of (details supplied).  They are on our Housing list for the last few years and is in 
urgent need of accommodation.  Can I ask he be considered for Annamore House, 
Kylemore, Claddagh Court or Fr Lemass Court, Dublin 10. He seems to never move 
on the list despite many others being housed over those years. 

 
Q44 Councillor Vincent Jackson 

To ask the Director of Services that I be given a full report on the housing of (details 
supplied).  Can serious consideration be given on welfare / medical grounds for this 
applicant?  This applicant’s young daughter cannot feed herself and is fed by tubes. 
In order to develop her full potential, she needs proper accommodation as the child 
needs space for medical appliances etc. What other information do DCC require to 
look at her housing request? 

 
Q45 Councillor Vincent Jackson 

To ask the Director of Services that the boundary of the following be sorted out 
(details supplied1) as the property will shortly be allocated by the Housing 
Department.  The neighbour at (details supplied2) has told me the fence was 
removed and never replaced.  As he is elderly, he is anxious we fence up the rear 
garden in order to give himself some protection and security. 

 
Q46 Councillor Vincent Jackson 

To ask the Director of Services that the following be investigated as a matter of 
urgency (details supplied).  I have recently met (details supplied1) in relation to very 
serious threats of intimidation from a neighbour who I believe is well known to Dublin 
City Council (details supplied 2).  The horrific abuse of a serious racist nature is 
unacceptable, serious injury to the husband of (details supplied1), abuse toward their 
children are unacceptable in a democratic society. I will be bringing this issue to the 
Assistant City Manager Housing & Community Services if we feel we cannot do 
anything to assist the victims here. 

 
Q47 Councillor Vincent Jackson 

To ask the Director of Services could I have an up to date list of numbers awaiting 
housing on Area J, the family sizes of same, the numbers housed in the last year 
2018 and length of time people on the current list are awaiting. 

 
Q48 Councillor Vincent Jackson 

To ask the Director of Services can Dublin City Council please ensure that the area 
surrounding Kylemore College, Kylemore Road, Ballyfermot, Dublin 10, is given a 
clean-up of waste and weeds.  All the busy sections of the road and footpaths here 
are in a bad state.  I am aware of new policy of not spraying weeds, however some 
areas need positive attention otherwise the areas can become very run down in 
appearance. 

  
 
 

Page 35



Q49 Councillor Vincent Jackson 
To ask the Director of Services to please give details of the various levels of activity 
from Dublin City Council’s contracted Clamping Service to Ballyfermot in the last 
year.  I firmly believe very little action from this company to deter all day parking has 
taken place.  The loss of traffic wardens has resulted in no regulation of car-parking 
and very little enforcement of people paying for car parking on the street. 

  
 

Page 36



Page 1 of 3

Item Enquiry SP Ref Road PostTopic Request Description SecRequest ByTag Result Tag Comments Received

07/11/2019
South Central Area - TAG Meeting Minutes for Noting

(Area Committee Date: 20/11/2019)
11 Items

1 7001900 WARRENMOUNT
PLACE (SC)

Dublin 8P&D/Permit Park
(Change Hours)

Extension of Pay & display Hours
24/7

1Member of
the Public

Recommended Accepted at Ballot to extend hours to Mon-Sun 07.00-24.00. 28
on register, 12 votes returned, 8 for, 1 against. 3 spoilt..

06/03/2018

2 7005728 SOUTH CIRCULAR
ROAD (SC)

Dublin 8P&D/Permit
Parking

Parking scheme for this location. 0Member of
the Public

Awaiting
Survey

Recommended subject to ballot of residents. 01/11/2018

3 7005773 BIGGER ROAD (SC) Dublin 12One-Way System To prevent motorists using wrong
side of road, when turning from
O'Brien Rd.

0Member of
the Public

Not
Recommended

SR NOT RECOMMENDED - After a site visit it was noted a One -
Way System would not be appropriate here and that better
signage would be more suited. To improve these two junctions
the introduction of Yield signs would prove beneficial .

05/11/2018

4 7009550 CONNOLLY
GARDENS (SC)

Dublin 8Double Yellow
Lines

DYLs requested to ensure
access for emergency vehicles.

0Member of
the Public

Not
Recommended

SR Not Recommended - After a site visit the Area Engineer would
not be in favour of introducing Double Yellow Lines in Connolly
Gardens as it would mean a restriction of parking for people who
don’t have off street parking at their homes when during a site
visit there were no problems witnessed. It would also be refused
on the below grounds
• It is illegal for a vehicle to park within 5 metres of a junction
corner, regardless of whether there are double yellow lines
installed or not.
• It is illegal to block an entrance/exit to a property without the
permission of the property owner.
• It is illegal to prevent vehicular access along a public roadway.

05/06/2019

5 7009866 TYRCONNELL ROAD
(SC)

Dublin 8Parking
Restrictions

DYLs or bollards to prevent
parking in front of shutter gate to
lane.

0Member of
the Public

Not
Recommended

It is not recommended to install parking restrictions, such as
placing double yellow lines or bollards across driveways, where
restrictions are already covered under the law. Under The Road
Traffic (Traffic & Parking) Regulations, Section 36 paragraph (2)
g; “A vehicle shall not be parked in any place, position or manner
that will result in the vehicle obstructing an entrance or an exit for
vehicles to or from a premises, save with the consent of the
occupier of such premises; ”Infringements should be reported to
Dublin Street Parking Services tel no. 01 6022500 or the Gardaí
as they occur.

21/06/2019

6 7010021 SOUTH CIRCULAR
ROAD (SC)

Dublin 8Double Yellow
Lines (Extend)

Extend DYLs southward from
junction, as drivers exiting cannot
see traffic coming northbound on
the SCR due to vehicles parked
too close to the junction.

0InternalRecommended SR Recommended – After a site visit the Area Engineer would be
in favour of extending the existing double yellow lines at the
junction of South Circular Road and the entrance to the National
War Memorial Gardens as a measure or increase visibility
Stat – install Double Yellow Lines on the west side of the
carriageway of the South Circular Road starting from a point
approx. 8.5m North of LS 7 to join up with existing double yellow
lines that run around the corner to the side entrance of
Islandbridge Court.

02/07/2019

P
age 37



Page 2 of 3

Item Enquiry SP Ref Road PostTopic Request Description SecRequest ByTag Result Tag Comments Received

07/11/2019
South Central Area - TAG Meeting Minutes for Noting

(Area Committee Date: 20/11/2019)
11 Items

7 7010685 BULFIN GARDENS
(SC)

Dublin 8Traffic Calming Cars speeding into estate 0CouncillorNot
Recommended

A 24hr speed survey was carried out on the 4th of October. The
speed survey found that Bulfin Gardens is an extremely lightly
trafficked road and that the 85th percentile is only showing at
24km/h which is below the new 30Km/h speed limit. During the
survey it was noted that there was only 0.30% of the traffic that
broke the speed limit.

Also during a site visit it was noticed that Kickham Road has a
School ahead sign (which is actually in the wrong place and will
have to be moved ) at the entrance. I think the residents have
mistaken this as an additional children at play sign.

Both Kickham Road and Bulfin Road have the new 30km/h signs
which serve as a 3-in-1 sign. Incorporated into these new signs
there is a "children at play" and "Slow Zone" sign along with the
speed limit. This is to warn motorists that it’s a residential area
and to expect children.

At present, the Engineer doesn’t feel like any additional traffic
calming measures need to be done.

06/08/2019

8 7010916 Q 44
SCAC
07/19

GLENAULIN (SC) Dublin 20Yellow Box 1CouncillorNot
Recommended

SR not recommended After a site inspection the area engineer
would not recommend a yellow box at the entrance to the
Glenaulin estate. The engineer didn't encounter any issues when
trying to exit Glenaulin to warrant a yellow box at this junction.

21/08/2019

9 7011852 BIGGER ROAD (SC) Dublin 12Yield Sign on the road. 0InternalRecommended To improve two junctions on Bigger Road Yield signs are
recommended as follows:
Stat 1- To install a Yield sign and Yield line outside of 24 Bigger
Road. This should be facing traffic travelling in a westerly
direction to Bigger Road
Stat 2 -  To install a yield sign and yield line outside of 18 Bigger
Road. The location of this sign should be on the north corner of
the smaller triangular green area facing traffic travelling in a
westerly direction to Bigger Road from O’Brien Road. Directly
across from house number 18.

16/10/2019

10 7011885 SPIDDAL ROAD (SC) Dublin 10Traffic Calming "Slow" road markings. 0InternalRecommended Traffic calming recommended in the form of Slow Road markings
- After a site inspection it would be recommended to install
“SLOW” road markings on the north side of Spiddal Road facing
traffic travelling in an easterly direction. This should be located
opposite LS 21.
Another "SLOW" road marking should be located on the southern
side of Spiddal Road outside house number 62 facing traffic
travelling in a westerly direction.

17/10/2019

P
age 38



Page 3 of 3

Item Enquiry SP Ref Road PostTopic Request Description SecRequest ByTag Result Tag Comments Received

07/11/2019
South Central Area - TAG Meeting Minutes for Noting

(Area Committee Date: 20/11/2019)
11 Items

11 7011886 CLEGGAN AVENUE
(SC)

Dublin 10Traffic Calming "Slow" road markings. 0GardaiRecommended Traffic Calming in form of Slow Road Markings recommended -
After a site inspection it would be recommended to install “SLOW”
road markings on the north side of the road facing traffic travelling
in an easterly direction. This should be located outside house
number 66 Cleggan Ave.

Another "SLOW" road marking should be located on the southern
side of Cleggan Road  outside house number 16 facing traffic
travelling in a westerly direction.

17/10/2019

P
age 39





Traffic Service Requests,  

Status Report at 15/10/2019  

South Central Area Committee Meeting 20/11/2019 
 

 

Traffic Advisory Group (TAG) Service Request Statistics 

 

 

 

 

Breakdown of TAG Requests currently open on Confirm 

 

Stage 1 4 

Stage 2 114 

Stage 3 5 

Stage 4 65 

Stage 5 22 

 

General traffic service requests not requiring Statutory Orders. 
 
Total Non Tag requests received since previous 
report 

8 

Total Non Tag requests currently open on 
Confirm. 

113 

 

 

Traffic Advisory Group Status Reports 

Explanation of Stages: 

 Stage 1 -  Set up file, Assignment to Engineer, etc 

 Stage 2 - Assessment, Site surveys, review statutory orders, etc 

 Stage 3 - Consultations, with Garda, Dublin Bus, Luas, NTA, Local residents / businesses, etc 

 Stage 4 - Decision, TAG group, statutory orders, etc 

 Stage 5 - Implementation, signs, lines, construction, signal changes, certifications, etc 

 

No. TAG Requests received since previous report  
10 

Total TAG Requests currently open on Confirm 
210 

Page 41



Item Enquiry SP Ref Site Subject Description Logged

Status Report Wednesday 16 October 2019
210 Items

Status

1 7009116 MEATH STREET (SC) 3.5 Tonne Limit Restrict access on roads leading onto Meath
Street, as it is too narrow to accomodate
recent increase in HGV traffic.

16/05/2019 13:22:051

2 7009934 SANDFORD AVENUE (SC) Traffic Calming some traffic calming measures at the top of
Sandford Avenue where it meets Donore
Avenue

26/06/2019 14:31:061

3 7010507 LISLE ROAD (SC) Roundabout small roundabout at the junction 26/07/2019 10:59:071

4 7010914 NEW IRELAND ROAD (SC) Double Yellow Lines I think double yellow lines inserted between
our two houses number 47 and 49 would
deter vehicles from parking and blocking our
driveways.  Im open to other suggestions
you think may help with the issue.  I am also
making this request of behalf of my
neighbours Eva and Dave Donohue number
47.

21/08/2019 08:26:121

5 90045579 SP_27667 CHERRY ORCHARD AVENUE
(SC)

Pedestrian Crossing at junction of Blackditch Rd and Cherry
Orchard Ave.

09/11/2015 11:44:202

6 90047618 SP_36472 BASIN STREET LOWER (SC) Cycle Track request for cycle lane on Basin View 09/02/2017 15:53:322

7 90048435 SP_37298 OSCAR SQUARE (SC) P&D/Permit Parking Introduction of Scheme on the road. 03/04/2017 10:47:432

8 90048570 SP_37433 BRIDGE STREET LOWER (SC) Add Pedestrian Phase Full wrap-around 07/04/2017 08:51:192

9 90048716 SP_37583 GRATTAN CRESCENT (SC) Pedestrian Crossing Pedestrian crossing, Inchicore National
School, Grattan Crescent

19/04/2017 13:23:312

10 90048834 SP_37703 CHAPELIZOD ROAD (SC) Cycle Track request for more cycle lanes 26/04/2017 16:17:132

11 90048856 SP_37725 KYLEMORE ROAD (SC) Pedestrian Crossing No pedestrian on Kylemore Rd south of
Bluebell Avenue, pedestrians have to walk
further up Kylemore Rd in order to cross.

27/04/2017 12:15:112

12 90049050 SP_37921 KYLEMORE ROAD (SC) Pedestrian Crossing on all legs of the junction. 08/05/2017 20:21:242

13 90049051 SP_37922 KYLEMORE ROAD (SC) Pedestrian Crossing on the west leg of the junction. 08/05/2017 20:22:502

14 90049155 SP_38028 CHAPELIZOD ROAD (SC) Cycle Track through the village 15/05/2017 16:53:282

15 90049816 SP_38699 GREENVILLE AVENUE (SC) P&D/Permit Park (Extend Area) Request to extend area outside 5 Greenville
Avenue to include two parking spaces.

14/06/2017 11:49:582

16 90050178 SP_39065 MEATH STREET (SC) Pedestrian Zone carry out necessary feasibility study for the
street

06/07/2017 12:50:192

17 90050559 SP_39457 EMERALD SQUARE (SC) Double Yellow Lines outside and adjacent to No. 1. 31/07/2017 15:21:502

18 90051520 SP_40429 BRIDGEFOOT STREET (SC) Pedestrian Crossing Request for pedestrian crossing at site of
new park

22/09/2017 10:24:382

19 90051548 SP_40457 WORMWOOD GATE (SC) Pedestrian Crossing across Wormwood Gate at junction with
Bridge Street

26/09/2017 00:00:002

20 90051642 SP_40552 BULFIN COURT (SC) Traffic Calming on the section from Bulfin Road to Thornton
Heights.

03/10/2017 00:00:002

21 90051765 SP_40679 SOUTH CIRCULAR ROAD (SC) Pedestrian Crossing Outside Gael Scoil Inchicore 06/10/2017 00:00:002

22 7000087 KYLEMORE ROAD (SC) TAG General Engineer Query Cycle Lane at Mc Donalds leading up to
traffic lights

27/10/2017 10:08:552

Page 1 of 10

Page 42



Item Enquiry SP Ref Site Subject Description Logged

Status Report Wednesday 16 October 2019
210 Items

Status

23 7000151 DRIMNAGH ROAD (SC) Bus Lane Extend the outbound bus lane on Drimnagh
Road from Balfe Road through the junction
with Walkinstown Road to tie in with the
existing bus lane on the Naas Road.

03/11/2017 09:55:362

24 7000477 SOUTH CIRCULAR ROAD (SC) Right Turn Filter Light Right filter light at the junction of SCR and
the Royal Hospital. Turn from South Circular
Road onto High Road, Kilmainham.

21/11/2017 09:21:282

25 7000570 CHAPELIZOD ROAD (SC) Cycle Track Cycle track on inbound footpath across form
Chapelizod Church.

24/11/2017 10:01:382

26 7000738 LANDEN ROAD (SC) No Right Turn (Amend) amend 'no right turn'  from Kylemore Rd onto
Landen Rd to operate during peak times
only.

04/12/2017 15:05:492

27 7001529 JAMES'S STREET (SC) Cycle Track Extend cycle lane towards luas tracks 01/02/2018 10:11:412

28 7001530 JAMES'S STREET (SC) Clearway (Amend Hours) extned hours of clearway cars constantly
blocking cycle lane

01/02/2018 10:12:562

29 7002016 CONVENT LAWNS (SC) Parking Restrictions in Convent Lawns. 14/03/2018 13:34:032

30 7002451 PIM STREET (SC) Double Yellow Lines (Extend) extend the dyls by 6 meters to the same
length as the continuous white line .

17/04/2018 08:33:112

31 7002843 CEANNT FORT (SC) P&D/Permit Parking Parking solutions for the estate. 11/05/2018 17:48:312

32 7002903 KYLEMORE ROAD (SC) Pedestrian Crossing at junction with La Fanu Rd 17/05/2018 09:47:572

33 7002979 BELLEVUE (SC) Coach Parking Change Bus Stop to Coach Bay 21/05/2018 16:29:352

34 7003855 HERBERTON PARK (SC) Roundabout Traffic Calming roundabout 18/07/2018 12:34:352

35 7004014 SOUTH CIRCULAR ROAD (SC) Clearway (Amend Hours) extend hours of clearway between above
roads

30/07/2018 11:49:442

36 7004039 WALKINSTOWN AVENUE (SC) Right Turn Filter Light Without the aid of a right turn traffic light,
motorists find turning right at this junction
very unsafe and difficult to gauge

31/07/2018 09:26:092

37 7004541 BRIDGE STREET LOWER (SC) Double Yellow Lines between Oliver Bond Street and the Taxi
Rank at the Brazen Head.

28/08/2018 13:20:252

38 7004596 Q 23 18/07/2018KILLEEN ROAD (SC) Double Yellow Lines on the road 30/08/2018 09:00:572

39 7005071 BRIDGEFOOT STREET (SC) Traffic Calming Review of junction 25/09/2018 12:30:052

40 7005226 OLD NAAS ROAD (SC) Pedestrian Crossing Pedestrian crossing for high number of
employees crossing between buildings.

03/10/2018 12:45:362

41 7005967 JAMES'S WALK (SC) Traffic Calming difficult to get from one side of James’ Walk 14/11/2018 11:18:402

42 7006145 SAINT LAURENCE ROAD (SC) Traffic Lights (new) Additional light for visibility purposes for
traffic turning left over bridge towards
Phoenix Park.

21/11/2018 17:55:442

43 7006291 Q 14 21/11/2018RIALTO COTTAGES (SC) Pedestrian Crossing Where Rialto Cottages meet the Luas line 30/11/2018 10:11:022

44 7006296 Q. 36 21/11/2018LE FANU ROAD (SC) Traffic Calming on the road 30/11/2018 11:05:522

45 7006314 CHAPELIZOD BYPASS (SC) Yellow Box (Extend) Extend yellow box to ensure traffic from
Ballyfermot & Chapelizod both have
sufficient space.

30/11/2018 12:52:242

Page 2 of 10

Page 43



Item Enquiry SP Ref Site Subject Description Logged

Status Report Wednesday 16 October 2019
210 Items

Status

46 7006352 SAINT LAURENCE ROAD (SC) Yellow Box On the road 04/12/2018 11:22:052

47 7006440 EWINGTON LANE (SC) Double Yellow Lines (Extend) Can the dyls be extended to cover the top
part of the cul-de-sac as cars are parking
here, getting clamped, and then getting
refunded. Can the remainder of the lane way
be examined for dyls as wel.

07/12/2018 09:26:502

48 7006532 FRANCIS STREET (SC) Zebra Crossing Zebra crossing for this location. 12/12/2018 13:13:022

49 7006533 FRANCIS STREET (SC) Pedestrian Crossing Pedestrian crossing at this location. 12/12/2018 13:24:182

50 7006935 SOUTH CIRCULAR ROAD (SC) TAG General Engineer Query Parking bay between BS 1348 and Spencer
Street South be removed

21/01/2019 09:32:142

51 7007100 SOUTH CIRCULAR ROAD (SC) Continuous White Line Place markings to highlight that there are
two lanes.

28/01/2019 12:30:422

52 7007101 SUIR ROAD (SC) Continuous White Line Place markings to highlight that there are
two lanes.

28/01/2019 12:34:042

53 7007182 CORK STREET (SC) TAG General Engineer Query Install more visible lighting, or a filter light at
this junction.

31/01/2019 16:30:212

54 7007237 Q 7 SCAC 16/01/19CLEGGAN PARK (SC) Traffic Lights (new) at junction with Ballyfermot Road 05/02/2019 11:54:582

55 7007246 MOUNTSHANNON ROAD (SC) Traffic Calming Measures to deal with speeding and
increased traffic from hospital.

05/02/2019 16:03:002

56 7007247 MAYFIELD ROAD (SC) Traffic Calming Measures to deal with speeding and
increased traffic from hospital.

05/02/2019 16:07:062

57 7007294 SUIR ROAD (SC) Right Turn Filter Light where Suir Road meets Bulfin Road 07/02/2019 16:13:012

58 7007597 Q 27 SCAC FEB 19LE FANU ROAD (SC) 3.5 Tonne Limit When was ban lifted/removed? 25/02/2019 11:41:512

59 7007843 MEATH PLACE (SC) Traffic Calming On the road 11/03/2019 09:15:542

60 11077011 2432726 BRIDGEFOOT STREET (SC) Pedestrian Crossing on the road 19/03/2019 12:23:222

61 7008172 SAINT MICHAELS TERRACE
(SC)

Double Yellow Lines DYLs for inside corner. 29/03/2019 13:38:362

62 7008284 Q 11 SCAC 04/19ESPOSITO ROAD (SC) TAG General Engineer Query Road being used as rat run. 08/04/2019 10:04:452

63 7008350 RIALTO COTTAGES (SC) Disab Park Bay Residential Request for disabled parking bay criteria for
resident.

09/04/2019 17:43:382

64 7008419 MILL STREET (SC) Loading Bay or DYL or SYL to enable loading &
unloading.

11/04/2019 16:01:232

65 7008491 NEWMARKET STREET (SC) Traffic Calming "Children-at-play" signage and speed ramps. 15/04/2019 15:31:172

66 7008492 SOUTH CIRCULAR ROAD (SC) Traffic Calming Traffic calming measures for this location. 15/04/2019 15:50:002

67 7008550 BULFIN COURT (SC) Pedestrian Crossing Pedestrian crossing to assist wheelchair
users.

17/04/2019 15:30:522

68 7008552 PIM STREET (SC) P&D/Permit Parking Permit parking scheme for this location. 17/04/2019 16:34:532

69 7008599 LUCAN ROAD (SC) Bus Lane between west of Belgrove Park and
Maryfield Nursing Home. (End of Bus Lane
and measurement required for Stat for this
section of Bus Lane).

23/04/2019 11:10:082

Page 3 of 10

Page 44



Item Enquiry SP Ref Site Subject Description Logged

Status Report Wednesday 16 October 2019
210 Items

Status

70 7008636 SOUTH CIRCULAR ROAD (SC) Yellow Box To allow for a safe right turn. 24/04/2019 13:28:172

71 7008756 SARSFIELD ROAD (SC) Double Yellow Lines DYLs to prevent cars parking at this location,
and improve road safety.

30/04/2019 15:53:362

72 7008757 CHAPELIZOD BYPASS (SC) Yield Sign (Rescind) Rescind Yield sign at traffic lights at this
junction.

30/04/2019 16:57:182

73 7008786 KYLEMORE ROAD (SC) Buildout (Rescind) Remove or reduce buildout which causing
parking difficulties at this residence.

01/05/2019 17:01:392

74 7008812 VICTORIA QUAY (SC) Cycle Track Cycle lane for this location. 02/05/2019 17:54:252

75 7008837 PHOENIX STREET WEST (SC) Double Yellow Lines DYLs for both sides of The Ranch estate,
especially on park side to ensure access to
driveways.

03/05/2019 13:16:112

76 7008876 SAINT MARY'S DRIVE (SC) Traffic Lights (Relocate) Reposition, or otherwise alter, traffic lights to
give right-of-way to vehicles coming from
Saint Mary's Drive.

07/05/2019 15:43:072

77 7008880 VAUXHALL AVENUE (SC) 3.5 Tonne Limit Restriction for heavy vehicles to safeguard
pedestrians.

07/05/2019 16:14:322

78 7008973 WALKINSTOWN PARADE (SC) Traffic Calming Traffic calming measures for this road. 10/05/2019 13:05:512

79 7009006 GREENVILLE AVENUE (SC) Traffic Calming Traffic calming measures to prevent vehicles
speeding from Donore Avenue.

13/05/2019 15:29:042

80 7009041 SOUTH CIRCULAR ROAD (SC) Double Yellow Lines Outside 376 South Circular Road 14/05/2019 12:10:032

81 7009098 IRWIN STREET (SC) Pedestrian Crossing Pedestrian crossing requested, due to
frequency & speed of traffic at this location.

15/05/2019 15:21:062

82 7009185 SAINT LAURENCE ROAD (SC) Right Turn Filter Light Filter light for turning right onto Chapelizod
Bridge Road.

17/05/2019 17:58:152

83 7009186 CHAPELIZOD HILL ROAD (SC) Double Yellow Lines DYLs for each side of entrance to Annamore
Court, to prevent obstruction by parked cars.

17/05/2019 18:08:342

84 7009232 BUNTING ROAD (SC) No Right Turn (Rescind) Rescind "No Right Turn" to prevent
rat-running through Harty Road, Thomas
Moore Road & Walkinstown Road.

20/05/2019 16:31:472

85 7009398 SOUTH CIRCULAR ROAD (SC) School Keep Clear School road markings outside the school
entrance. Dyls either side of the School keep
clear markings as well. and school
ahead/children crossing sign

28/05/2019 13:19:412

86 7009399 SOUTH CIRCULAR ROAD (SC) School Warden Outside the Griffith Barracks Multi Denom
School, Carry out in September

28/05/2019 13:21:522

87 7009413 WALKINSTOWN AVENUE (SC) Yellow Box Yellow box for exit from Bridgecourt Office
Park.

28/05/2019 16:25:592

88 7009552 HERBERTON ROAD (SC) Pedestrian Crossing Crossing from Rialto into Crumlin. 05/06/2019 16:47:342

89 7009582 RAHEEN PARK (SC) Traffic Calming Speed ramps, speed limit signs &
"children-at-play" signs for the road.

06/06/2019 18:13:012

90 7009589 USHER'S QUAY (SC) Yellow Box Yellow box across three lanes of traffic, at
exit from garage.

07/06/2019 17:37:032

91 7009638 KNOCKNAREA AVENUE (SC) Children Crossing Sign Signs requested in the complex of
Knocknarea Court, Drimnagh.

11/06/2019 14:57:472

Page 4 of 10

Page 45



Item Enquiry SP Ref Site Subject Description Logged

Status Report Wednesday 16 October 2019
210 Items

Status

92 7009646 MILL STREET (SC) Double Yellow Lines access and egress issues at the location due
to new developments in the vicinity of
Warrenmount Centre

11/06/2019 19:13:112

93 7009776 HARCOURT LODGE (SC) Parking Restrictions Parking restrictions to preserve access for
bin collection & storage.

18/06/2019 16:53:362

94 7009777 O'REILLY AVENUE (SC) Double Yellow Lines DYLs at corner opposite no. 189 to allow
safe exit from driveway on narrow road.

18/06/2019 17:32:172

95 7009787 OLIVER BOND STREET (SC) Traffic Calming traffic calming or other measures to prevent
use of Oliver Bond Street as a rat-run.

19/06/2019 13:09:222

96 7009788 FRANCIS STREET (SC) Loading Bay Loading for ROMA takeway. 19/06/2019 13:13:172

97 7009872 HERBERTON ROAD (SC) Parking Restrictions 24/06/2019 09:56:012

98 7009878 TYRCONNELL PARK (SC) Children Crossing Sign Request for Children Crossing Sign and also
Cul-de-Sac Sign

24/06/2019 11:25:232

99 7009879 DONORE AVENUE (SC) Parking Restrictions Donore Avenue junction with Cork Street. 24/06/2019 12:01:592

100 7009988 CLEGGAN AVENUE (SC) Traffic Calming Traffic calming measures to prevent
speeding between ramps, along by the
green area.

28/06/2019 15:23:172

101 7010009 SOUTH CIRCULAR ROAD (SC) Parking Restrictions Measures to prevent perpendicular parking,
and encourage parallel parking at this
location.

01/07/2019 15:45:382

102 7010209 ERRIGAL ROAD (SC) Parking Restrictions 11/07/2019 09:15:382

103 7010228 KYLEMORE ROAD (SC) Yellow Box (Extend) at junction with R148 12/07/2019 15:22:262

104 7010230 KYLEMORE ROAD (SC) TAG General Engineer Query extend existing pencil bollards at the slip
road for R148

12/07/2019 16:12:092

105 7010588 Q 33 JULY 2019ROSSMORE DRIVE (SC) TAG General Engineer Query Ramp to access footsteps 30/07/2019 11:56:272

106 7010685 BULFIN GARDENS (SC) Traffic Calming Cars speeding into estate 06/08/2019 16:47:512

107 7010709 RUTLEDGE TERRACE (SC) School Warden outside Dunore Credit Union. Request from
Resident Association.

08/08/2019 10:05:032

108 7010915 Q 44 SCAC 07/19LA TOUCHE ROAD (SC) Double Yellow Lines 21/08/2019 09:43:422

109 7010992 BRIDGE STREET UPPER (SC) Cycle Track Cycle lane and advance stop box for
crossing the bridge when traveling from the
top of the hill.

26/08/2019 12:21:422

110 7011010 CON COLBERT ROAD (SC) Yellow Box (Extend) Extend yellow box on inbound lane to
facilitate buses merging into general traffic
from the bus lane.

26/08/2019 15:23:052

111 7011091 GRATTAN CRESCENT (SC) Advance Cycle Stop Line Install advance stop line at traffic lights. 30/08/2019 16:37:462

112 7011448 SOUTH CIRCULAR ROAD (SC) Cycle Track Extend existing cycle lane in Rialto up to
Haroldville Avenue, and install 24hr signage.

20/09/2019 15:34:582

113 7011451 OLD KILMAINHAM (SC) Pedestrian Crossing Pedestrian crossing or zebra crossing for
this junction, particularly for residents
coming from Brookfield Road.

23/09/2019 12:23:372

114 7011708 Q 20 SCAC 10/19OLD KILMAINHAM (SC) Yellow Box At the junction with Brookfield Road 08/10/2019 11:24:312

Page 5 of 10

Page 46



Item Enquiry SP Ref Site Subject Description Logged

Status Report Wednesday 16 October 2019
210 Items

Status

115 7011710 Q 24 SCAC 10/19HERBERTON ROAD (SC) TAG General Engineer Query To review the junction outside No. 169 08/10/2019 11:38:282

116 7011718 JAMES'S STREET (SC) Cycle Track Extend cycle track approximately 100m
alongside Luas track running beside Mary
Aikenhead House.

08/10/2019 12:36:312

117 7011827 SOUTH CIRCULAR ROAD (SC) Double Yellow Lines DYLs to prevent delays to northbound traffic
turning right into James's Walk.

15/10/2019 15:57:492

118 7011832 SOUTH CIRCULAR ROAD (SC) School Ahead Sign School Ahead signage for Griffith Barracks
MDS.

15/10/2019 16:33:152

119 90049803 SP_38685 SHANNON TERRACE (SC) P&D/Permit Parking Introduction of a Scheme. 13/06/2017 15:13:163

120 90049995 SP_38880 CLARENCE MANGAN ROAD
(SC)

P&D/Permit Parking from 07:00 to 24:00,
in conjunction with a one-way system (see
SR38881).
 
 

26/06/2017 11:37:593

121 7000653 SOUTH CIRCULAR ROAD (SC) P&D/Permit Parking at Nos. 480-490. partial scheme.Other
residents notified

29/11/2017 10:40:533

122 7001900 WARRENMOUNT PLACE (SC) P&D/Permit Park (Change
Hours)

Extension of Pay & display Hours  24/7 06/03/2018 13:17:273

123 7005728 SOUTH CIRCULAR ROAD (SC) P&D/Permit Parking Parking scheme for this location. 01/11/2018 13:30:293

124 90044747 SP_12251 JOHN DILLON STREET (SC) School Ahead Sign on Thomas Davis St Sth & John Dillon St. 12/05/2014 10:52:454

125 90044771 SP_12638 BRIDGEFOOT STREET (SC) Pedestrian Crossing Across Bridgefoot Street at Usher's Quay. 29/05/2014 13:32:154

126 90045183 SP_18499 KYLEMORE WAY (SC) Speed Ramps on the road. 04/06/2015 15:25:454

127 90045603 SP_27824 PARK WEST AVENUE (SC) Traffic Island at the roundabout, towards the Nangor
Road, on the hotel side of the road.

16/11/2015 15:43:364

128 90048110 SP_36969 CHAPELIZOD HILL ROAD (SC) Add Pedestrian Phase at the junction of Chapelizod Hill
Road/Kylemore Road/Le Fanu Road.

10/03/2017 15:41:564

129 90048157 SP_37017 MARROWBONE LANE (SC) Pedestrian Crossing adjacent to St. Catherines Sports Centre and
DCC Road Maintenance paving depot.

15/03/2017 09:28:314

130 90049088 SP_37959 JAMES'S WALK (SC) Double Yellow Lines at the entrance to Nos. 64-74. 10/05/2017 10:16:544

131 7000152 WALKINSTOWN ROAD (SC) Bus Lane Extend the inbound bus lane on Walkinstown
Road to the stop line at the junction with the
Drimnagh Road.

03/11/2017 09:58:394

132 7000767 REUBEN STREET (SC) Speed Ramps Speed survey for the increase in traffic
volume.

06/12/2017 11:52:164

133 7001340 LE FANU ROAD (SC) Pedestrian Crossing Pedestrian crossing at St. John's College
Ballyfermot.

22/01/2018 12:35:584

134 7002666 BROOKFIELD ROAD (SC) Yellow Box o/s the new entrance to St James's Hospital. 01/05/2018 16:08:034

135 7003310 SAINT ANTHONY'S ROAD
(SC)

Disab Park Bay General 2 bays outside new Enable Ireland Offices 12/06/2018 15:34:374

136 7003486 FRANCIS STREET (SC) Double Yellow Lines At Dublin Bikes Stand 22/06/2018 09:11:294

137 7003849 THOMAS STREET (SC) Bus Lane (Change of hours)  Looking to convert the outbound/inbound
bus lane on Thomas street between
Bridgefoot Street and Watling Street to 7am
to 7pm

18/07/2018 11:50:024

Page 6 of 10

Page 47



Item Enquiry SP Ref Site Subject Description Logged

Status Report Wednesday 16 October 2019
210 Items

Status

138 7003919 GREENVILLE PARADE (SC) Double Yellow Lines (Extend) Extend DYLS full way along railing as
emergency vehicles are finding it difficult to
access terrace

23/07/2018 15:26:414

139 7004065 CEANNT FORT (SC) Zebra Crossing Two zebra crossings required for elderly
residents.

31/07/2018 17:31:324

140 7004564 HANBURY LANE (SC) Disab Park Bay General Request for 2 Bays near The Primary Care
Centre.

29/08/2018 11:25:414

141 7004743 CHERRY ORCHARD PARK
(SC)

Speed Ramps request additional ramps on other side of the
green.

06/09/2018 12:25:454

142 7004854 SOUTH CIRCULAR ROAD (SC) Yellow Box St James Terrace 13/09/2018 08:36:094

143 7005301 CHAPELIZOD HILL ROAD (SC) Add Pedestrian Phase Add pedestrian phase for safety of older
residents of Annamore Court.

08/10/2018 14:42:404

144 7005773 BIGGER ROAD (SC) One-Way System To prevent motorists using wrong side of
road, when turning from O'Brien Rd.

05/11/2018 15:54:054

145 7005971 SOUTH CIRCULAR ROAD (SC) Zebra Crossing On the road 14/11/2018 13:28:344

146 7006046 SLIEVEBLOOM PARK (SC) Double Yellow Lines DYLs for corners to allow access for
emergency vehicles.

16/11/2018 11:45:594

147 7006345 SARSFIELD ROAD (SC) Double Yellow Lines Dublin Bus say drivers are experiencing long
delays with cars now parking further up
Sarsfield Road.

03/12/2018 17:00:194

148 7006360 NEW IRELAND ROAD (SC) Double Yellow Lines (Extend) At the corner of New Ireland Road and
Pormahon Drive is extended down New
Ireland Road.

04/12/2018 12:49:424

149 7006745 EMMET ROAD (SC) Loading Bay Loading bay for o/s Mower City Ireland. 08/01/2019 15:38:544

150 11073876 2414718 COLEPARK DRIVE (SC) Speed Ramps due to joyriding. 10/01/2019 14:31:054

151 7006988 SOUTH CIRCULAR ROAD (SC) Double Yellow Lines on approach to Bus Stop No. 1385 (between
Greenville Terrace and St Alban's Road, in
to town side).

22/01/2019 10:25:374

152 7007229 O'CURRY ROAD (SC) Traffic Calming Traffic calming measures for this location. 04/02/2019 14:27:094

153 7007272 SUSAN TERRACE (SC) Double Yellow Lines DYLs for this location. 06/02/2019 12:35:244

154 7007440 SPERRIN ROAD (SC) School Ahead Sign 30 km/h speed signs, "School Ahead"
signage & work on speed ramps for this
location.

14/02/2019 16:32:044

155 7007596 JAMES'S WALK (SC) Double Yellow Lines (Rescind) Along the railings where James's Walk
meets Rialto Street

25/02/2019 11:35:394

156 7007792 WALKINSTOWN DRIVE (SC) Speed Ramps Additional speed ramp for this location. 06/03/2019 17:02:524

157 7008027 RING STREET (SC) Disab Park Bay Residential at No.26 21/03/2019 15:41:534

158 7008392 CAMERON SQUARE (SC) Disab Park Bay Resid (Rescind) Disabled parking bay at this location no
longer in use.

10/04/2019 17:42:304

159 7008577 WALKINSTOWN PARADE (SC) Speed Ramps Two speed ramps for this section of road. 18/04/2019 13:44:334

160 7008613 BROWN STREET SOUTH (SC) Traffic Calming Traffic calming measures to prevent
speeding.

23/04/2019 16:16:204

Page 7 of 10

Page 48



Item Enquiry SP Ref Site Subject Description Logged

Status Report Wednesday 16 October 2019
210 Items

Status

161 7008618 INCHICORE ROAD (SC) Double Yellow Lines DYLs to preserve vehicular access to
property, and to increase visibility & safety
and prevent blocking of cycle lane.

23/04/2019 18:21:234

162 7008877 SAINT MARY'S DRIVE (SC) Yellow Box (Extend) Extend box up to traffic lights. 07/05/2019 15:45:084

163 7008936 SOUTH CIRCULAR ROAD (SC) Zebra Crossing on the road 09/05/2019 12:02:164

164 7009043 NEW ROW (SC) No Parking "No Parking" signage for this location. 14/05/2019 12:23:394

165 7009060 CLOVERHILL DRIVE (SC) Children Crossing Sign "Children-at-play" signage requested due to
speeding on this road.

14/05/2019 16:35:514

166 7009106 SARSFIELD ROAD (SC) Double Yellow Lines DYLs to prevent all-day parking which
obscures visibliity for Dublin Bus drivers.

15/05/2019 17:44:514

167 7009187 CHAPELIZOD HILL ROAD (SC) Pedestrian Crossing 17/05/2019 18:16:004

168 7009231 CROMWELLSFORT ROAD
(SC)

Yellow Box Yellow box for this junction. 20/05/2019 16:19:594

169 7009282 SPIDDAL ROAD (SC) Speed Ramps Additional speed ramps due to speeding
cars.

22/05/2019 18:15:314

170 7009397 RIALTO STREET (SC) Double Yellow Lines DYLs for corner, to clarify where residents
can park without being clamped.

28/05/2019 13:08:234

171 7009485 BENBULBIN ROAD (SC) Yield Sign Additional signage at the junction of
Benbulbin Road and Mourne.

30/05/2019 14:47:014

172 7009550 CONNOLLY GARDENS (SC) Double Yellow Lines DYLs requested to ensure access for
emergency vehicles.

05/06/2019 16:34:264

173 7009554 CATHERINE STREET (SC) Disab Park Bay Residential outside No. 6. 05/06/2019 17:09:494

174 7009733 GALTYMORE ROAD (SC) Disab Park Bay Residential outside home 17/06/2019 09:12:584

175 7009775 DONORE AVENUE (SC) Parking Restrictions Measures to keep area clear for glass
collections.

18/06/2019 16:42:274

176 7009864 BALLYFERMOT ROAD (SC) No Right Turn No Right Turn to prevent vehicles turning
into the industrial estate from creating a
pinch point at this location.

21/06/2019 16:19:584

177 7009866 TYRCONNELL ROAD (SC) Parking Restrictions DYLs or bollards to prevent parking in front
of shutter gate to lane.

21/06/2019 18:05:284

178 7009881 O'HOGAN ROAD (SC) Traffic Calming "Children-at-play" signage for the road. 24/06/2019 13:07:414

179 7010021 SOUTH CIRCULAR ROAD (SC) Double Yellow Lines (Extend) Extend DYLs southward from junction, as
drivers exiting cannot see traffic coming
northbound on the SCR due to vehicles
parked too close to the junction.

02/07/2019 11:00:474

180 7010099 DONORE ROAD (SC) Disab Park Bay Residential NO 25 05/07/2019 11:45:274

181 7010100 SOUTH CIRCULAR ROAD (SC) Pedestrian Build-Out 05/07/2019 12:44:484

182 7010370 CLARENCE MANGAN ROAD
(SC)

Parking Restrictions 19/07/2019 09:39:264

183 7010470 DECIES ROAD (SC) Children Crossing Sign At the Markievicz Park/Le Fanu Park  along
Decies Road.

24/07/2019 16:51:374

Page 8 of 10

Page 49



Item Enquiry SP Ref Site Subject Description Logged

Status Report Wednesday 16 October 2019
210 Items

Status

184 7010491 MERCHANT'S QUAY (SC) Bus Lane (Change of hours) Change of hours for all bus lanes North and
south quays from Winetavern Street to
Heuston Station to include Sunday 07.00 to
19.00

25/07/2019 13:09:294

185 7010500 FORBES LANE (SC) One-Way System One-way system for eastern end of road,
widen existing footpath and provide new
footpath at opposite side of road.

25/07/2019 15:57:004

186 7010916 Q 44 SCAC 07/19GLENAULIN (SC) Yellow Box 21/08/2019 09:50:564

187 7010968 WALKINSTOWN AVENUE (SC) No Parking "No Parking" signage or bollards to prevent
blocking of footpath, and preserve access for
wheelchair-users and pedestrians to the
park.

23/08/2019 12:55:404

188 7011577 DONORE ROAD (SC) Disab Park Bay Residential Disabled parking bay for o/s 16 Donore
Road.

01/10/2019 11:05:174

189 90045511 SP_20953 ERRIGAL ROAD (SC) Pedestrian Crossing at the junction with Drimnagh road, outside
the Ronald McDonald House

21/10/2015 14:26:205

190 90045521 SP_20998 KILMAINHAM LANE (SC) No U Turn Cars coming of Chapelizod Byepass and
trying to do a U turn at the entrance to the
War Memorial Gardens

22/10/2015 15:52:365

191 90045774 SP_28935 MILITARY ROAD (SC) 3.5 Tonne Limit On Military Road at the junction of St. John's
Road West.

18/01/2016 14:41:015

192 90046801 SP_35622 SOUTH CIRCULAR ROAD (SC) Bus Lane (Change of hours) For extension of the operational hours,
eastbound on the approach to Leonard’s
Corner.  

20/12/2016 11:17:535

193 90047925 SP_36783 SAINT FRANCIS' SQUARE
(SC)

P&D Parking (Change Hours) Change hours to Monday-Sunday
7.00-24.00.  BALLOT

02/03/2017 13:21:165

194 90048253 SP_37115 MOUNTSHANNON ROAD (SC) P&D/Permit Park (Change
Hours)

for extension of the operational hours.
BALLOT

21/03/2017 13:24:285

195 90049055 SP_37926 HERBERTON PARK (SC) No Left Turn no left turn from SCR onto Herberton Park,
the right turn from Herberton Rd onto
Herberton Park be made ‘except cyclists’

09/05/2017 08:54:455

196 90049904 SP_38787 MAYFIELD ROAD (SC) P&D/Permit Park (Change
Hours)

For extension of operational hours.  BALLOT 19/06/2017 15:05:175

197 90050047 SP_38933 INCHICORE ROAD (SC) P&D/Permit Park (Change
Hours)

for extension of the operational hours. 28/06/2017 15:36:525

198 90050889 SP_39789 PIM STREET (SC) Continuous White Line DYLs on junction across from continuous
white line on one side only.
 
Suggest DYLs on both sides or rescind
exisiting

21/08/2017 13:23:415

199 90051660 SP_40571 BOW LANE WEST (SC) Yield Sign On the cycle slip lane that comes from Bow
Lane West onto Thomas Street.   

03/10/2017 00:00:005

200 90051710 SP_40624 O'LEARY ROAD (SC) 3.5 Tonne Limit on the road. 04/10/2017 00:00:005

201 7000683 TURVEY AVENUE (SC) Stop Sign on Turvey Avenue at the junction of Emmet
Road.

30/11/2017 09:14:215

202 7001522 JAMES'S STREET (SC) Clearway (Amend Hours) Extend Clearway hours on section between
the end of the bus lane and the Luas Tracks.

31/01/2018 14:34:315

203 7002981 THOMAS COURT (SC) Yield Sign At junction 21/05/2018 16:31:455

Page 9 of 10

Page 50



Item Enquiry SP Ref Site Subject Description Logged

Status Report Wednesday 16 October 2019
210 Items

Status

204 7004563 SAINT CATHERINE'S LANE
WEST (SC)

Parking Restrictions Cars parked in laneway making it difficult for
pedestrians to walk through.

29/08/2018 11:16:135

205 7005212 LISLE ROAD (SC) Yellow Box  yellow box at the exit of Lisle road. 03/10/2018 09:56:505

206 7006863 THOMAS COURT (SC) Stop Sign Review of junction as it is very dangerous
and there have been a number of near
accidents.

15/01/2019 11:43:115

207 7007122 SOUTH CIRCULAR ROAD (SC) Single Yellow Line outside 44. 29/01/2019 13:22:445

208 7007243 GALTYMORE ROAD (SC) Yield Sign Stop sign or Yield sign 05/02/2019 15:35:305

209 7007967 BALFE ROAD EAST (SC) Stop Sign Either stop or yield sign at junction Dowland
Road

19/03/2019 10:44:405

210 7008333 SOUTH CIRCULAR ROAD (SC) Clearway (Amend Hours) South Circular Road from the junction with
Donore road to Mason Technology.

09/04/2019 12:37:405

Page 10 of 10

Page 51





20th November 2019
Dublin City Council

Industrial Lands Study Update & Proposed 

Variation of Dublin City Development Plan 

2016-2022

Presentation to South Central Area Committee

John O’Hara and Deirdre Scully

P
age 53



Z6/Z7 Study Context

Objective CEE04  - Dublin City Development Plan 2016 – 2022

(i) To carry out a targeted survey of those industrial estates with likely 

redevelopment potential and to make recommendations on how that 

redevelopment potential might be best achieved.

(ii) To carry out a study on the potential of lands zoned for enterprise 

and employment space, the adequacy of such potential supply, and 

the issue of under-utilised/vacant land.  

P
age 54



Z6/Z7 Study Context

Land Use Zoning Objectives

Land Use Zoning Objective Z6 ‘To provide for the creation and protection of 

enterprise and facilitate opportunities for employment creation’

Z6 Lands  - c. 600 ha representing 6% of the City Council’s administrative area

Land Use Zoning Objective Z7 ‘To provide for the protection and creation of 

industrial uses and facilitate opportunities for employment creation’

Z7 Lands – c. 256 ha representing 2.5% of the City.

Over 860 hectares of land is zoned for employment purposes (Z6 and Z7) 

throughout the City

P
age 55



Compact Growth and Urban 

Consolidation through the 

reusing of large and small 

brownfield land / infill sites, 

and underutilized lands at 

location well served by 

public transport.

Focus within the canals and 

the M50 ring.

Drivers for Change 

Consolidation and Re-

Intensification of 

infill/brownfield sites to 

provide high density and 

people intensive uses 

within the existing built up 

areas of Dublin and 

Suburbs.

Core Strategy

The policies and 

objectives in this plan 

promote the  

intensification and 

consolidation of Dublin city 

Identification of Strategic 

Development Areas / 

Other strategic sites to 

come forward through the 

ongoing provision of 

brownfield / infill 

intensification. 

P
age 56



The Z6/Z7 Study

• 82 Study areas / land banks

• 863 hectares in total

• 5 different categories of lands

P
age 57



Categories of industrial lands Initial outcomes

Category 1: Small Scale Sites

Small land banks with issues of urban blight / underutilization; 

rezoning would allow for redevelopment

All small sites recommended for 

variation

Category 2: Medium Scale Sites

Slightly larger land bank but operating at low volume with 

capacity to intensify – rezoning would allow for intensive mixed 

use development

Sites identified for rezoning with 

remaining sites to be reviewed as 

part of the Development Plan 

review process

Category 3: Economically Strategic Sites

Land banks of strategic importance to the economy and the 

Z6/Z7 zoning to remain; includes Z7 Lands - Dublin Port and 

St. James Gate and Z6 Lands – key office employment 

Existing Z6 and Z7 zonings 

unchanged

Category 4: Large Sites needing Framework Plans etc.

Large scale regeneration area for the provision of new housing 

and employment (45% of Total Z6 lands) 

Subject to further detailed study

Category 5: Other Miscellaneous Sites

Zoning no longer good reflection of current use

To be reviewed as part of the 

Development Plan review process

P
age 58



Findings and Recommendations

• Proceed with recommendation for the variation of 20 no. Z6 land banks 

(circa 55 hectares/ 6.5% of Z6 lands)

11 no. land banks located in the south side

- Ballyfermot-Drimnagh:

- Chapelizod Bypass / Kylemore Road

- Ballyfermot Road Lower

- South West Inner City

- Goldenbridge Industrial Estate 

- Old Kilmainham/South Circular Road

- 109-114 Cork Street

- White Heather Industrial Estate

- Parkgate St / Wolfe Tone Quay

- Kimmage-Rathmines

- Davitt Road

- Herberton Road / Keeper Road

- Brickfield House and Sunshine Estate

- Greenmount Industrial Estate

South Central Area

P
age 59



Lands in 

South Central Area

P
age 60



Chapelizod Bypass / Kylemore Road

Area: 3.5723 Hectare / 8.83 acres

Location: between Chapelizod Bypass/ Kylemore Road, 

with Ballyfermot Training Centre to the south 

Land use: plant machinery supplier/ light industrial 

/manufacturing

Level of intensity: low scale, low intensity use with a 

level of vacancy

Accessibility: Quality Bus Corridor, well served by 

Dublin Bus. Proximity to (proposed) Bus Connects route 

& Lucan Luas extension

Site relevant matters: telecommunication infrastructure, 

adjacent to Chapelizod Bypass

Proposed rezoning: Z1 (Residential)

P
age 61



Ballyfermot Road Lower

Area: 0.168 Hectares  / 0.42 acres

Location: accessed from Ballyfermot Road

Land use: no current uses on the lands

Level of intensity: vacant

Accessibility: 

Well served by Dublin Bus. Proximity to (proposed) Bus 

Connects route & Lucan Luas extension

Site relevant matters: surrounded by housing

Proposed rezoning: Z1 (Residential)

P
age 62



Goldenbridge Industrial Estate

Area: 4.2959 Hectares  / 10.62 acres

Location: accessed from Tyrconnell Road, to north of Grand 

Canal

Land use: retail / office / light industrial/ local services

Level of intensity: actively used, low scale, low intensity 

use in part

Accessibility: 

Well served by Dublin Bus and Luas. 

Proximity to (proposed) Primary Cycle Networks

Site relevant matters: part of land floods, Camac River 

traverses the lands, industrial heritage, proximity to canal

Proposed rezoning: Z10 (Mixed Use) & Z9 (Open Space)  

P
age 63



Old Kilmainham / South Circular Road

Area: 3 Hectares  / 7.41 acres

Location: located between Old Kilmainham Road and 

South Circular Road

Land use: building suppliers/ residential/ car rental / local 

services/ offices

Level of intensity: low scale and actively used in part

Accessibility: 

Well served by Dublin Bus, Luas.

Proximity to (proposed) GDA cycle route

Site relevant matters: Flooding, vacant site designation, 

proximity to River Camac

Proposed rezoning:         

Land banks 1 & 2: to Z1 (Residential) & Z9 (Open Space) 

Land banks 3 & 4: to Z1 (Residential)

Land bank 5: retained as Z6 (Employment)

P
age 64



109-114 Cork Street

Area: 0.572 Hectares  / 1.41 acres

Location: to north of Cork Street

Land use: retail / light industrial / residential 

Level of intensity: low scale and low intensity

Accessibility: 

On Quality Bus Corridor, well served by Dublin Bus. 

Proximity to (proposed) GDA cycle routes

Site relevant matters: vacant site designation, partial 

dereliction, on-site protected structure, industrial 

heritage

Proposed rezoning: Z10 (Mixed Use)

P
age 65



White Heather Industrial Estate

Area: 1.464 Hectares  / 3.62 acres

Location: Dolphin’s Barn off South Circular Road, 

fronting Grand Canal to the south 

Land use: office / storage / distribution

Level of intensity: actively used, low scale, low intensity

Accessibility: 

Well served by Dublin bus routes

Site relevant matters: extensive canal frontage, part of 

site in canal conservation area, poor relationship with 

street and canal

Proposed rezoning:  Z1 (Residential) & Z9 (Open Space)

P
age 66



Parkgate St / Wolfe Tone Quay

Area:  0.012  Hectares  / 0.03 acres

Location: Parkgate Street, north side of River Liffey

Land use: decommissioned ESB substation and 

adjoining greenspace

Level of intensity: obsolete use  / inaccessible space

Accessibility: 

Well served by Luas, Dublin bus, Liffey cycleway, 

Dublin Bikes

Site relevant matters: obsolescence, dereliction, part 

of River Liffey conservation area 

Proposed rezoning: Z5 (City Centre)

P
age 67



P
age 68



Other Southside Lands

P
age 69



Davitt Road, Goldenbridge

Area: 1.8 Hectares  / 4.45 acres

Location: off Davitt Road adjacent to the Grand Canal

Land use: light industrial/ DCC depot / pub

Level of intensity: low scale and low intensity with a level of 

vacancy

Accessibility: well served by Dublin Bus and Luas

Site relevant matters: part of canal conservation area, 

presents an air of dereliction to street / canal

Proposed rezoning: Z1 (Residential)

P
age 70



Herberton Road / Keeper Road, Drimnagh
(Glenview Industrial Estate) 

Area: 3.919 Hectares  / 9.68 acres

Location: off Herberton Road, south of the Grand Canal

Land use: heat merchants/ bathroom suppliers/ 

Security/ sports club

Level of intensity: actively used, low scale, low intensity

Accessibility: 

Well served by Dublin Bus, Luas and canal cycleway. 

Proximity to (proposed) GDA cycle route

Site relevant matters: surrounded by housing

Proposed rezoning: Z1 (Residential) 

P
age 71



Brickfield House and Sunshine Estate
Area:  2.2932 Hectares  / 5.66 acres

Location: accessed from Crumlin Road/ Brickfield Drive

Land use: mixed commercial / social / wholesalers / retail

Level of intensity: actively used, low scale, low intensity

Accessibility: 

Well served by Luas and Dublin bus routes

Proximity to (proposed) GDA cycle routes

Site relevant matters: industrial heritage

Proposed rezoning: Z1 (Residential)

P
age 72



Greenmount Industrial Estate
Area:  1.6652 Hectares  / 4.12 acres

Location: accessed from Greenmount Avenue which is off 

the Harold’s Cross Road, and from Parnell Road

Land use: retail/ leisure/ light industrial / office 

Level of intensity: actively used, low scale, low intensity

Accessibility: 

Well served by Dublin bus routes

Site relevant matters: narrow access, on-site protected 

structures and industrial heritage

Proposed rezoning:  Land bank 1: to Z10 (Mixed Use)

Land bank 2: to Z1 (Residential)

P
age 73



Northside Lands

P
age 74



9 no. land banks located in the north side

- Ballymun-Finglas :

- Clearwater Retail Park

- Artane-Whitehall:

- Santry Industrial Lands

- Shanowen Road Lands

- Mornington Business Park

- Malahide Road

- Clontarf 

- Harmonstown Road

- Esmond Avenue

- North Inner City

- Seville Place

- East Wall Road

P
age 75



Clearwater Retail Park, Finglas Road

Area: 0.9636 Hectare

Location: adjacent to the Clearwater Shopping Centre 

and Erins Isle GAA Club

Land use: retail and car sales/garage

Level of intensity: actively used, low scale, low 

intensity use

Accessibility: Quality Bus Corridor

Site relevant matters: adjacent to housing and sports 

ground

Proposed rezoning: Z1 (Residential)

P
age 76



Santry Industrial Lands

Area: 10.8922 Hectare

Location: north of the Omni Shopping Centre

Land use: includes Santry Hall Industrial Estate and St 

John’s Court Office Park

Level of intensity: low scale, low intensity use, some 

level of vacancy

Accessibility: well served by Dublin Bus

Site relevant matters: adjacent to Santry Demesne 

Regional Park

Proposed rezoning: Z1 (Residential)

P
age 77



Shanowen Road Lands

Area: 4.2569 Hectare

Location: Santry/Whitehall – to the south of the Omni 

Shopping Centre

Land use: Santry Garda Station and car pound, Carriage 

Office, Revenue Commissioners, Dept of Social Welfare 

Level of intensity: actively used, low scale, low intensity

Accessibility: Quality Bus Corridor

Site relevant matters: telecommunications mast on 

lands, sections have appearance of dereliction

Proposed rezoning: Z1 (Residential)

P
age 78



Mornington Business Park

Area: 0.9653 Hectare

Location: off the Kylemore Road in Artane

Land use: light industrial uses within one building 

including wholesale  supply and manufacturing

Level of intensity: actively used, low scale and low 

intensity

Accessibility: well served by Dublin Bus

Site relevant matters: surrounded by housing

Proposed rezoning: Z1 (Residential)

P
age 79



Malahide Road (adj to Mornington Grove)

Area: 1.2495 Hectare

Location: Artane

Land use: filling station, bank, retail and medical 

services

Level of intensity: low scale, actively used 

Accessibility: Quality Bus Corridor

Site relevant matters: ESB substation and 

telecommunications masts on lands

Proposed rezoning: Z1 (Residential) & Z3 (Neighbourhood)

P
age 80



Harmonstown Road 

Area: 2.6624 Hectare

Location: adjacent to Harmonstown Dart Station

Land use: suppliers, retail, community uses, motor 

sales/garage, services

Level of intensity: actively used, low scale, low intensity

Accessibility: 100m from Hartmonstown Dart Station, 

well served by Dublin Bus

Site relevant matters: adjacent to railway line

Proposed rezoning: Z10 (Mixed Use)

P
age 81



Esmond Avenue 

Area: 0.2217 Hectare

Location: located off Fairview Strand

Land use: warehousing, builders yards

Level of intensity: low level, low intensity

Accessibility: well served by Dublin Bus, close 

proximity to Clontarf Road Dart Station

Site relevant matters: access, Z2 zoning to eastern 

boundary of lands

Proposed rezoning: Z1 (Residential)

P
age 82



Seville Place

Area: 1.3012 Hectare

Location: access off Oriel Street Lower

Land use: Rail depot, rail sidings & turntable

Level of intensity: Dublin – Belfast line

Accessibility: well served by Dublin Bus, close proximity 

to Connolly Station

Site relevant matters: adjacent to the Royal Canal, 

industrial heritage site (Engine Shed), partially located 

within a Flood Zone Defended Area

Proposed rezoning: Z5 (City Centre) and Z9 (Open Space)

P
age 83



East Wall Road 

Area: 10.945 Hectare

Location: adjacent to Dublin Port Tunnel

Land use: retail, light industrial, vehicle storage and office 

development uses

Level of intensity: low scale, low intensity

Accessibility: well served by Dublin Bus, approx. 700m 

from the Point Luas stop

Site relevant mattters: located within a Flood Zone 

Defended Area, close proximity to sites of conservation 

sensitivity, land flanks Port Tunnel

Proposed rezoning: Z10 (Mixed Use)

P
age 84



1. To proceed with Variation of City Development Plan

2. Commence public consultation in November 2019 

3. Continue review of remaining lands 

Please direct any follow-up queries or comments to: 

Sharon Beatty at sharon.beatty@dublincity.ie

Next Steps 

P
age 85

mailto:Ssharon.beatty@dublincity.ie




Notification of initiation under Part 8 

Planning and Development Regulations 2001
(as amended)

Proposed demolition of 2 blocks (nos. 45-68 and 

69 to 92), Dolphin House, Dublin 8 

Presentation to South Central Area Committee 

20th November 2019

By David Conway, Executive Engineer, Dublin City Council 

P
age 87



Site Location 

P
age 88



Proposal

• Demolition of the existing two blocks (Flats 45 – 68 & 69 – 92) known 
as the ‘Long Blocks’ – 24 flats in each block. 

• It is proposed to demolish the two blocks entirely, together with 
grubbing up the existing road, footpaths and hardstanding to the 
north and east of the blocks. 

• Replaced with a proposed grassed finish with a mixture of a new low 
slipform kerb and retention of the existing boundary fence and wall to 
secure the perimeter. An access gate will be provided for grass cutting 
and general maintenance. 

• No new construction works are proposed as part of this Part 8 
planning application and any redevelopment proposals will be subject 
to a separate planning application.

P
age 89



Proposed Demolition Works

P
age 90



Proposed Demolition Works

P
age 91



Proposed Site Plan

P
age 92



Proposed Works

P
age 93



Proposed Development
• The future development plans have not been finalised The demolition 

of the two flat blocks are being brought forward to mitigate against 
ongoing anti-social behaviour

• Area to the north of the two existing blocks is mostly hidden from 
public view and as such the removal of the two blocks will greatly 
improve the passive surveillance of the area  

• Public lighting and CCTV coverage of the area will be retained 

P
age 94



Estimated Timeline for Project

• Part 8 Process – Q4 2019

• Appointment of Civil/Structural Consultant – Q1/Q2 2020

• Appointment of Demolition Contractor – Q3 2020

• Estimated completion of Demolition Works - Q1 2021

P
age 95



Pre-Part 8
• Proposal was circulated internally to various Dublin City Council 

Technical Departments

• A number of observations and comments were submitted by a 
number of the internal DCC departments and they will be 
addressed as part of the Part 8 process and also during the 
demolition stage of the project. 

• The agreement of the Committee is requested to this 
proposal.

Part 8 - Notification of initiation 

P
age 96



Thank you.

P
age 97





South Central Area Office, 
            Eblana House 

            Marrowbone Lane, 
          Dublin 8. 

 
 
The Chairperson and Members  
South Central Area Committee 
 
 

 
Schedule for Lighting of Christmas Trees in the South Central Area, 

Christmas 2019. 

 

 
 

 
DAY 

 
DATE 

 
TIME 

 
LOCATION 

Tuesday 26/11/2019 6.00 p.m. Cornmarket at junction of High Street 
Refreshments afterwards in St. Audeon’s School. 

Thursday 28th 
November, 
2019 

6.00 p.m. Bluebell at the Luas Stop, Dublin 12 
Refreshments afterwards in Our Lady of the Wayside 
Church Foyer 

Wednesday 27th 
November, 
2019 

6.00 p.m. Ballyfermot Community Civic Centre, Ballyfermot Road, 
Dublin 10. 
Refreshments served afterwards in the Atrium 

Tuesday 3/12/2019 4.45 p.m. Dolphin’s Barn (in the park at Our Lady of the Dolours 
Church at junction of South Circular Road). 
Refreshments afterwards in the Church. 

Tuesday 3rd 
December, 
2019 

6.00 p.m. Inchicore at LINC (WALK) Building, Tyrconnell Road,  
Dublin 8.  
 

Wednesday  4/12/2019 6.00 p.m. Cherry Orchard Avenue, Church of the Most Holy 
Sacrament, Ballyfermot, Dublin 10. 
Refreshments served afterwards in St. Ultan’s School 

Thursday 5th 
December, 
2019 

7.00 p.m. The Plaza, Chapelizod Village, Dublin 20. 
Refreshments served afterwards in the Band Room.  

Saturday 7th 
December, 
2019 

5.45 p.m. Grounds of the Church of Our Lady of Good Counsel, 
Drimnagh. 

 
Christmas tree lights will be switched on during the first week of December at the following 
locations: - 

 Landen/Lally Roads Roundabout, Ballyfermot, Dublin 10. 

 Pimleco, The Liberties, Dublin 8 
 
 
Mary Taylor 
Director of Services South City 

Page 99





South Central Area 
Eblana House, 

Marrowbone Lane, 
Dublin 8 

The Chairperson and Members 
South Central Area Committee 
 
Halloween 2019 Report South Central Area 
The South Central Area launched our Halloween 2019 campaign in early October. Meetings 
with all relevant stakeholders were conducted from September 2019, both at area and at 
corporate level.  It was agreed from the outset that a multidisciplinary approach delivering a 
co-ordinated plan to (a) reduce the harm caused by Bonfires to the environment and (b) 
facilitate alternative activities for young and old to participate in. This strategy worked very 
well in 2018. 
 
Intelligence - based operations and drone technology proved invaluable in monitoring vacant 
sites, lane ways, open public spaces, green margins etc.   Tracking the movement of 
hoarded bonfire materials yielded excellent results.  Persistent removal of identified 
stockpiles from Dublin City Council housing complexes & nearby vacant sites had a major 
impact on reducing the movement of pallets and tyres in public open spaces 
Public Domain planned and organised operations across the SCA in conjunction with Waste 
Management, Parks, Housing and the Gardaí.  There was great cooperation and resource 
sharing between South East and South Central in Dublin 8 and Dublin 12 with a noticeable 
reduction in bonfire damage across both areas.  
 
The main tranche of the 2019 Halloween Campaign began 26th October and ended on 31st 
October 5pm. A team of 19 people worked over the Bank Holiday Weekend to identify & 
track bonfire material movement. The  Locations  included The Liberties, Pimlico, 
Kilmainham, Inchicore, Ballyfermot, Bluebell, Drimnagh, Crumlin, Kimmage & Walkinstown.  
Two hundred and fifty bonfire material service requests were raised and responded to.  
A huge volume of work that resulted in the removal of 187 ton of mixed bonfire materials 
from the public domain. The bulk of the material was removed on 31st October.  
 
There were a number of key stockpiles as listed below:- 
 

SWIC Quantity Crumlin Quantity Ballyfermot  Quantity 

Oliver 
Bond 
Flats - 
4 visits  

150 Tyres 
and 200 
Pallets 
removed- 

Brickfield 
environs  

Truck 
load junk 

Kylemore Pk. Ind 
Est (Bluebell 
stock pile) 

2.5 
Truckloads 
Pallets & 
Tyres 

Pier 19 
vacant 
site  

2 Truck -
loads 
Pallets 

Longmile Road 
Ind Est. 

Truck 
Load 

Kylemore & JFK 
industrial estates  

2-3 Truck 
Loads 
pallets 

Inchicore 
Builders 
Providers 

Truck load 
Pallets 

  Park West 2 Truck 
Loads 
Pallets 

Basin St 
Flats 
Vacant 
flat 

60 tyres 
and pallets 

 
 

 Bluebell  Ind Est Truck load 
Pallets 

St 
Teresa’s 
Gardens  

Half Truck 
Load of 
pallets, 
Spindles 

  Cherry Orchard 
Ind Est -4 visits 

4 truck loads 
Pallets 
Tyres and 

Page 101



Back 
lands 

Household 
Junk 

Dolphin 
House  
Vacant 
flat 

 Truckload 
Pallets and 
Tyres 

    

 
The Bonfires were fewer and decidedly smaller than previous years due to a number of 
factors:  

 Team effort in spotting and retrieving pallets and tyres 

 Flyers delivered to all residents outlining the consequences of hoarding/transporting 
bonfire materials and publicising the alternative family fun events in the Liberties, 
Crumlin, Drimnagh, Walkinstown, Ballyfermot and cherry Orchard.  

 Family Fun Events across the Area attracted  huge numbers 
o The Zombie Run - California Hills-350 entries,  Brickfield Park-150 entries & 

Eamonn Ceannt Park-120 entries 
o Scare D8- 1,000+ spectators 
o Ballyfermot Halloween Festival -4-5,000 spectators 
o Cherry Orchard Fireworks Display 1,000+ spectators 
o D12 Halloween Festival 
o local  events Drimnagh, Walkinstown  

 Garda Liaison 
Cost Halloween Campaign 2019 

Halloween 2018 Costs 
 

Truck Hire & Labour €21,830 (ex. VAT)* 

Drone Surveillance €3,050.40 

Leaflets €2,555.95 

Protective Fencing €2,000.00 

Thornton’s  Disposal of Bonfire Materials €10,988.12- Waste Mgt 

Overtime  €11,653.71 

Ballyfermot Halloween festival €5,000.00 

Total €48,694.37 

*TBC 
 
The Clean-up operation began on November 4th. Waste Management and Parks have 
responded very quickly to remove bonfire residues from Green Spaces and adjacent roads 
and footpaths. The Clean-up operation is now complete. 
 
Positive outcomes 
Bonfires greatly reduced in number and burn time.  No out of control /large bonfires.  There 
appears to have been very little anti-social behaviour in Brickfield Park and its environs. The 
Liberties had very little anti-social behaviour and there was very positive feedback from 
members of the community and an Garda Siochana regarding the overall success of the 
Halloween Festival programme.  
 
Bonfire Sites reported 1st November at following locations:   

Crumlin/Drimnagh           Ballyfermot /Bluebell/ Walkinstown       SWIC 

                            Spiddal Green                      Bridgefoot St (Park Site) 

Clonmacnoise Road(sml)             Croftwood Park/Grove              St Michaels Est. 

Kells Road                           Cherry Orchard Pde          Dolphin Rd 

Somerville Drive              Cherry Orchard Cres   

Carrow Road                           Cherry Orchard Ave    

Page 102



Durrow Road                           Croftwood Grove   

Cashel Road (x2)                          Liffey Gaels 

Cashel Avenue               Cloverhill Rd 

Dromard Green                Barnville Pk 

Windmill Road                                                    Cleggan Rd 

Poddle Close                                                       Clifden Green 

Bangor Circle(sml)                                               Cherry Orchard Court 

                                                                             Walkinstown Green 

 
410 Ton Bonfire Material disposed of across the entire City a reduction of almost 200 Ton 
across the city.  
 
Mary Taylor_________   
Director of Services             
 

Page 103





Library Events for November 2019 – South Central Area 

1 

 

Ballyfermot Library 

Non Regular 

or Regular 

Events 

Event 

Category 
Event Title Audience Date and Time 

Non- Regular Storytime Storytime celebration 

with St Raphael’s 

school 

Selected children 

& parents 

Tuesday 5th @ 10.00am 

Non- Regular Storytime Storytime celebration 

with Woodlands Creche 

Selected children 

& parents 

Tuesday 5th @ 11.00am 

Non- Regular Irish 

Language 

Irish Language Course All Tuesdays 6.30pm – 

7.45pm (remaining 4 of 5) 

Non- Regular Meeting Coiste Ballyfermot 

meeting  

Closed Tuesday 5th @ 1.00pm 

Non-Regular Education B.A.L.T Psychology 

Lecture 

Members of 

B.A.L.T 

Wednesday  6th 10.15am – 

12.15pm 

Non- Regular Disability BCDAC Meeting Members of 

disability group 

Friday 8th 11.00- 1.00 

Non-Regular Disability Above group talk with 

Trina O’Connor 

Members of 

group 

Friday 8th 1.30pm – 

3.00pm 

Non-Regular Storytime Storytime celebration 

with St Matthews 

Creche 

Selected children Friday 8th @ 10.00am 

Non-Regular Health WRAP course with HSE Closed Tuesdays 12th  & 

Wednesday 13th  10.00am 

– 5.00pm 

Non-Regular Science 

Week 

Science Magic with W5 Selected classes Tuesday 12th 10.00am – 

2.00pm(3 sessions) 

Non-Regular Reading Reader in residence 

event with St Michael’s 

4th Class 

Selected children Tuesday 12th  

Non-Regular Storytime Storytime celebration 

with Famili BASE  

Selected children 

& parents 

Wednesday 13th @ 

11.00am 

Page 105



Library Events for November 2019 – South Central Area 

2 

 

Non Regular 

or Regular 

Events 

Event 

Category 
Event Title Audience Date and Time 

Non-Regular Meeting Meeting to discuss the 

potential of a D10 

youth theatre, with 

Barry Morgan from 

Youth Theatre Ireland 

Closed Thursday 14th @ 10.00am 

Non-Regular Health World COPD day – 

trainer coming to talk 

people through an 

exercise programme 

for COPD sufferers 

Open Tuesday 19th 10.30am – 

12.30pm 

Non-Regular Health Expert Diabetes 

programme lectures 

Open Thursdays 2.30 –5.00pm 

for 4 weeks starting on 

21st.  

Non-Regular Reading Reader in residence 

event with St. Ultan’s 

Selected children Thursday 28th  

Non-Regular Health Restorative practice 

workshop 

 Thursday 28th 3.00pm – 

6.00pm 

Regular Exhibition 1916 Street Banners 

Art Exhibition 

All Ongoing 

Regular Cultural Ballyer Trad Hub All Saturdays 11.00am – 

1.00pm 

Regular Storytelling Bi-lingual (Irish & 

English) story telling 

with Grace Corrigan 

All toddlers Fridays 11.30am – 

12.15pm 

Regular Adult 

Literacy 

BALT Adults Wednesdays 10.00am – 

12.30pm 

Regular Facilitated 

Group 

WALK Computer 

classes 

Closed to 

members of 

WALK 

Mondays & Wednesdays 2 

– 4pm 

Regular Toddler 

Group 

‘Baby Bounce’ story 

telling with Grace 

Corrigan 

Toddlers Mondays 10.30am (0-

2yrs) & 11.30am (2-4yrs) 

Page 106



Library Events for November 2019 – South Central Area 

3 

 

Non Regular 

or Regular 

Events 

Event 

Category 
Event Title Audience Date and Time 

Regular Facilitated 

Group 

Smashing Barriers 

Ballyfermot/Chapelizod 

Closed Thursdays 10.30am – 

1.00pm 

Regular Facilitated 

Group 

Ballyfermot Heritage 

Group 

Closed  1st Thursday of the month 

@ 7pm 

Regular Facilitated 

Group 

COPD info session People suffering 

from COPD 

Last Thursday of month 

2.00pm – 4.00pm 

Regular Facilitated 

Group 

Creative Writers Group Adult 1st & 3rd Wednesday at 

6.30pm 

Regular Book Club Monday afternoon 

Book Club 

Adult 2nd Monday of month @ 

2.30pm 

 

Inchicore Library 

Non Regular 

or Regular 

Events 

Event 

Category 
Event Title Audience Date and Time 

Non-Regular Miscellaneous Poetry Wednesday All Weds 20th 

November @ 

6.30pm 

Regular 

 

Exhibition Statue of St. Maighneann All ongoing 

Regular Facilitated 

Group 

Monday Book Club, 

reading ‘Idaho’ by Emily 

Ruskovich 

Adult First Monday of 

Month 4/11/19 @ 

6.30pm 

Regular Miscellaneous Film Showing  Adult 13/11/19 @ 6pm 

sharp 

Regular Facilitated 

Group 

The Wednesday Book Club  Adult 27th November @ 

6.30pm 

Regular Facilitated 

Group 

Knitting Circle Adult Thursdays from 3 – 

4pm 

Regular Miscellaneous Colouring Children During the month 

Page 107



Library Events for November 2019 – South Central Area 

4 

 

Non Regular 

or Regular 

Events 

Event 

Category 
Event Title Audience Date and Time 

Regular Miscellaneous Story Time  Children Thursdays at 11.30 

– 12am 

Regular Service Home Energy Saving kit 

Available to borrow. 

Please contact library 

All All day every day 

Regular Service Surfbox Printing, Scanning 

& Photocopying service. 

You can e-mail your 

document from your laptop, 

pc, Smartphone etc to 

inchicore-

bw@printspots.com (black & 

white) or inchicore-

colour@printspots.com 

(colour).  

Black & White printing = 

20c. Colour = 60c. 

All All day every day 

Regular Book Display New Adult Book Display Adult Ongoing 

Regular Book Display New children’s Book 

Display 

Children Ongoing 

Regular Book Display Chinese New Year Children  ongoing 

Regular Miscellaneous Notice Board Display All Ongoing 

Regular Exhibition Children’s Art Display Children Ongoing 

Regular Exhibition Display of Great Book of 

Kilmainham 

All Ongoing 

Regular Book Display Healthy Ireland Adult, Young 

Adult, 

Children 

Ongoing 

Regular Book Display Work Matters Adult  Ongoing 

Regular Miscellaneous Public Computers: Two 

computers available for 

Internet and MS Office use 

15+, 

otherwise 

Ongoing 

Page 108



Library Events for November 2019 – South Central Area 

5 

 

Non Regular 

or Regular 

Events 

Event 

Category 
Event Title Audience Date and Time 

, driver theory test both 

Car & Trucks advisable to 

book in advance 

accompanied 

 

Walkinstown Library 

Non Regular 

or Regular 

Events 

Event 

Category 
Event Title Audience Date and Time 

Non-regular Adult Drumming Workshop Adult   

Non-Regular 

 

Adult Viewing of recently 

produced DVD on ‘The 

History of the Halfway 

House’ 

Adult 20th Nov 6.30pm 

Non-Regular 

 

Children 

 

LED Art 

 

Children 

 

2nd Nov 2-4pm 

Non-Regular 

 

Non-Regular 

 

Non- 

Regular 

Children 

 

Children 

 

Adults/ 

Children 

Dragons (Bricks kids)  

 

Scribble Bot 

 

Tovertafel for people 

with mid/late dementia 

and children with special 

educational needs 

Children 

 

Children 

 

Adults/children 

 

16th Nov 2-4pm 

 

23rd Nov 2.30-4pm 

 

During the month. 

 

 

Non-Regular Adult 

Education 

Communiversity Adult 

 

Thursday 10-12pm 

 

Non-Regular Adult 

Education 

Adult Learners Group 

,Follow on course for 

Communiversity 

Adult Thursday 12-2pm 

Regular Facilitated 

Group 

Knitting Circle Adult Weds 6pm-8pm 

Page 109



Library Events for November 2019 – South Central Area 

6 

 

Non Regular 

or Regular 

Events 

Event 

Category 
Event Title Audience Date and Time 

Regular Facilitated 

Group 

GIY Adult 3rd Monday of 

month 6.30-

7.45pm 

Regular Facilitated 

Group 

Adult Readers Group  Adult 2nd Thurs 3.30pm 

Regular Conversation 

Exchange 

Ciorcal Comhra ( Irish 

Language) 

  

Regular Toddler 

Group 

Toddler Group Children Tues 10am-11am 

 

Regular Book Club Children’s Book Club Children 4th Monday of the 

month 

Regular  Local History  Local History Group 

Meeting 

Adults  13th November – 

6.30pm 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 110



1 
 

SOUTH CENTRAL AREA COMMITTEE 

DUBLIN CITY SPORT & WELLBEING PARTNERSHIP REPORT  

NOVEMBER 2019 

 

 

1. DCSWP HIGHLIGHT EVENTS & PROGRAMMES  NOVEMBER - DECEMBER 2019 

 

 GAGA (GET ALL GIRLS ACTIVE) 2019 

GAGA is a Dublin City Sport & Wellbeing Partnership core programme which takes place from October to December aimed at increasing 

female participation through multi-sport initiatives. 

The programme culminates in GAGA Day on Wednesday, 4th December. Now in its second year GAGA Day is an initiative held to enable and 

inspire all girls to participate and engage in sport and physical activity through a range of new and existing programmes and events across the 

city. 

As a Local Sports Partnership the GAGA programme and GAGA Day links into the women in sport 20x20 “If She Can’t See It, She Can’t Be It” 

national campaign https://20x20.ie. This campaign is an all-inclusive movement to shift Ireland’s cultural perception of women’s sport by 2020 

with a 20% increase in media coverage of women in sport, a 20% increase in female participation at all levels of sport and a 20% increase in 

attendance at women’s games and events.  

In the South Central area the following programmes will be delivered on GAGA Day in Ballyfermot Sports & Fitness Centre; 

 Master Fitness Classes for girls age 12-15 years. Time TBC. 

 Water Aerobic classes in partnership with Swim Ireland for females 18+ years at 11am and 7pm. 

 Open Master Zumba classes for older adults. Times TBC. 

P
age 111

https://20x20.ie/


2 
 

 

For details on times the DCSWP can confirm in the next couple of weeks once the programme times are finalised.  

  

 

2. DCSWP CORE PROGRAMMES NOVEMBER  - DECEMBER 2019                               

Below are highlights of DCSWP core programmes and events ongoing in the area over the next period. For full details of all of our programmes 
please contact Dee O’Boyle in the DCSWP Office at (01) 222 5433/dccsports&rec@dublincity.ie or local Sport /Co-funded Officers. Contact 
details are listed at the end of the report.  

 

CHANGE FOR LIFE  (CORE)                                                       Underactive Adults   

Change for Life is an 8 week programme that aims to improve the health of local communities through a partnership approach designed to 
support people to become more physically active on a regular basis and adopt a healthier diet.  A number of Change For Life Lead-in 
programmes are ongoing in Inchicore and Fatima prior to the highlight programme which commences in January. The below CFL glow 
programme is ongoing;  

 Programme: Glow Soccer 
Date/Times: Tuesdays10am – 12 noon  
Location: St. Michael’s Community Hall 
Participants: Mixed Adults 
Partners: FAI  

 

 

 

 

P
age 112



3 
 

CHAMPIONS  (CORE)                                                      Adults With Intellectual/Physical and Sensory Disabilities    

Champions programmes provide opportunities for people with different disabilities to take part in regular physical activity in a safe environment.  

 Programme: Basketball Programme 
Date/Times: Wednesdays 2-3pm 
Location: Obleates Basketball Hall 
Participants: Mixed Adults 25-40 
Partners: FAI  

 

 

COUCH TO PARKRUN  (CORE)                                                       Underactive Adults   

The Couch To parkrun programmes aim to train participants over an 8-week programme enabling them to comfortably complete a 5k parkrun at 
the end of the programme. The following Couch to parkrun programme will be delivered in the area during the next period and will include 
walks and jogs along the Grand Canal;  

 Programme: Couch to parkrun 
Date/Times: Wednesdays 6-7pm 
Location: From F2 Centre 
Participants: Mixed Adults  

 

 
FIT 4 CLASS  (CORE)                                                         Primary School Students   

The Fit 4 Class programme takes place from September to December and is aimed at aimed at primary school students. 

 Programme: Fit 4 Class – Inchicore CDP/Inchicore NS 
Date/Times: Wednesdays 3-4pm 
Location: Inchicore Leisure Centre 
Participants: Mixed 8-10 years  
 
 

P
age 113



4 
 

 
 
 

 

FOREVER FIT  (CORE)                                                           Older Adults   

The Forever Fit programmes are aimed at older adults and will focus on activities to improve balance, co-ordination and fall prevention. 

Activities include chair aerobics, tai chi and line dancing. The following programme will conclude with a Christmas outing for the group.  

 Programme: Swing Over 50’s Dance 
Date/Times: Tuesdays 11am – 12 noon 
 Location: Ballyfermot Sports & Fitness Centra 
Participants: Mixed Older Adults 55+ years 
 

Ongoing Forever Fit swimming programmes in the SC area provide opportunities for older adults to learn how to swim; 
 
 

 Programme: Forever Fit Learn To Swim 
Date/Times: Mondays/Wednesday 11am – 12 noon 

  Location: Guinness Pool, St. James’s Gate 
Participants: Mixed Older Adults 55+ years 

 

GET DUBLIN WALKING  (CORE)                                                       Underactive Adults   

Get Dublin Walking community walks continue over the next period in the area. Details are listed below; 

Programme: School Completion Parents Walking  

Dates/Times: Wednesdays 9.15am 

Location: Various   

Participants: Mixed All Ages 
 

P
age 114



5 
 

 Programme: Ballyfermot Walkers & Talkers  
Dates/Times: Mondays/Wednesdays Times TBC 
Location: Various  
Participants: Mixed All Ages 
 
 
 

THRIVE (CORE)                      Adults With Mental Health Difficulties                                                                                                     

Thrive is a referral programme geared towards engaging people with mental health difficulties. This can range from people who suffer with anxiety 
or depression or individuals who have suffered an acquired brain injury and require assistance in re-integrating back into their communities from 
a personal independence, social & general wellbeing viewpoint 
 

Programme: Thrive  
Dates/Times: Fridays - Times TBC 
Location: Kylemore CTC  
Participants: Mixed 15 – 25 years 

.Programme: Thrive – Men’s Shed Music Session.  This initiative will see two local groups meeting for a music session in Dunleer and 
will include a Christmas visit to the Japanese Gardens.  
Dates/Times: TBC 
Participants: Male 18+ years 
 
 

YOUTH FIT  (CORE)                                                         Youth At Risk (10-21 years)   

 The ongoing GAISCE Unaccompanied Minors Programme (15 – 18 years) is delivered in partnership with the HSE/TULSA. The 
programme introduces new participants to the initiative and encourages them to sign up to various challenges over a 6-9 month period 
The programme is targeted at mixed participants age 15 – 18 years. 

 Ballyfermot Youth Services Adventure Centre continues to deliver the Saturday Club for children age 10-14 years.  

 

 

P
age 115



6 
 

 

 

3. DCSWP GENERAL PROGRAMMES NOVEMBER - DECEMBER 2019.  

 

 The Safeguarding 1 Course will be provided for clubs, coaches and volunteers over the next period in Ballyfermot Sports & Fitness 
Centre.  Details TBC 

 

 The Safeguarding 3 Course Designated Liaison Persons will be provided for coaches, parents and volunteers in Ballyfermot Sports & 
Fitness Centre on Thursday 28 November 
 

 The Causey Farm Ballyfermot Youth Services Santa Visit will take place on Fridays in December. The visit supports young people that 
have siblings with disabilities.  
 

 The Body Beats Programme is led by St. Ultan’s Social Services and is supported by local DCSWP Sports Officers.  The programme 
provides nutrition and exercise classes every Wednesday morning for 6th year students in schools in the area.   
 

 The Bluebell Health Fair Day will take place in Bluebell Community Centre on Sunday 15th December and will provide BMI tests, waist 
measurements and height/weight analysis.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 116



7 
 

 

 

 

4. DCSWP CO-FUNDED PROGRAMMES NOVEMBER – DECEMBER 2019 
 
 
ATHLETICS DEVELOPMENT OFFICER UPDATE 
 

Athletics Officers are currently delivering the following citywide athletics programmes.  

Run Jump Throw 
Workshop 

Coaching Workshop 
13/11/2019 27/11/2019 13,20,27th 

Nov 
Morton Stadium 16+ Mixed 

Primary teachers 
athletics workshop 

Coaching Workshop 
12/11/2019 13/11/2019 12,13th Nov Irishtown & Morton Adult Mixed 

Primary schools cross 
country 

Cross country events for primary school 
children 

03/12/2019 11/12/2019 3,4,5,10,11th 
December 

Venues TBC - 1 
event in each of the 
5 regions 

8 to  13 Mixed 

Secondary Schools CC 
event 

Cross country event for Secondary Schools to 
coincide with GAGA day 

04/12/2019 04/12/2019 04/12/2019 St. Anne's Park 13 to 15 Mixed 

The Daily Mile 

Promote the event in all Dublin City Primary 
Schools 

November Ongoing   Dublin City Regions 4 to 13 Mixed 

 

 

BOXING DEVELOPMENT OFFICER UPDATE 

 The Startbox Initiative, a partnership between the IABA and Dublin City Sport & Wellbeing Partnership, represents an ideal way for young 

people (10 – 17 years) to first engage with amateur boxing, Ireland’s most successful Olympic sport. It is delivered by our 5 dedicated 

IABA/DCSWP Development Officers via local schools (primary & TY level) in communities across the Dublin City area. Approx 2,000 

young people take part each year. The Programme is structured into Bronze (non contact), Silver and Gold phases. The first phase 

P
age 117



8 
 

focuses on general strength & fitness, method and technique. The DCSWP/Boxing Development Officer is currently engaging with schools 

across the South Central Area delivering the Bronze and Silver programmes. 

 
 
 
CRICKET DEVELOPMENT OFFICER UPDATE 
 

 The Cricket Development Officer is currently engaging in the following activities 
 

 
 
 
FOOTBALL DEVELOPMENT OFFICER UPDATE 
   

 Football Literacy Programme – Wednesdays at 2.30pm in Our Lady of Lourdes Primary School, Inchicore for males and females 7-8 
years. 

 

 Teen Football aimed at Youths at Risk – Thursdays from 5pm in Inchicore Sports Hall for males 14-19 years. 
 

 Early morning Breakfast Football – Fridays from 8am in Our Lady of Lourdes Primary School, Inchicore for males and females 5-12 
years. 

 

 Primary Schools Futsal Fun Day on Friday 6th December from 11am – 1pm in Inchicore Sports Hall for children age 9-10 years.  

Schoolyard Cricket 
Sessions  Cricket- Canal Way ET 

Mid-
November 

Mid-
December 

Tues 1.00pm-2.30pm Inchicore Primary 
School 
Children 

Male/Female 

Schoolyard Cricket 
Sessions  Cricket- Lady of Lourdes NS 

Mid-
November 

Mid-
December 

Wed- 1.00pm-2.30pm Inchicore  Primary 
School 
Children 

Male/Female 

Table Cricket 
League 

Cricket- Table Cricket for people with 
disabilities 

Mid-
November 

Mid-
December 

25th November 10.00am-
2.30pm 

Ballyfermot Sport and 
Fitness All ages 

Male/Female 

P
age 118



9 
 

 

 GAGA Football on GAGA Day in Inchicore and Bluebell Centres for females 7-12 years.   
 
 
 
  
 
RUGBY DEVELOPMENT OFFICER UPDATE_________________________________________________________________________ 
 
For details of Rugby programmes/events and initiatives in the area over the next few weeks please contact the Rugby Development Officer, 
Gareth Murray.   
 
SPORT INCLUSION & INTEGRATION  DEVELOPMENT OFFICER 
UPDATE_________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Table Cricket – Mondays from 11am – 1pm in Ballyfermot Sports & Fitness Centre for participants age 18+ years 
 

 Sports Leadership – Thursdays 9 – 11am in Ballyfermot Sports & Fitness Centre for participants age 18+ years 
 

 Autism in Sport Training for coaches and volunteers – Wednesdays from 1-4pm in Ballyfermot Sports & Fitness Centre age 16+ years.  
 
 
Contact details  
Shauna McIntyre, DCSWP Manager: shauna.mcintyre@dublin@dublincity.ie 
Aideen O’Connor, DCSWP Programmes & Services Development Manager: aideen.oconnor@dublin@dublincity.ie  
Colin Sharkey, Senior Staff Officer, DCSWP: colin.sharkey @dublincity.ie  
Martin McDonagh, Manager, Sports & Fitness Ballyfermot & Inchicore Sports Centre: martin.mcdonagh@dublincity.ie  
Cormac Healy, Manager, St. Catherine’s Sports Centre & Clogher Road Sports Centre: cormac.healy@dublincity.ie  
Igor Khmil, Sports Officer: igor.khmil@dublincity.ie  
Catherine Flood, Sports Officer: catherine.flood@dublincity.ie  
Will Morris, Sports Officer: william.morris@dublincity.ie  
Sharon Kelly, Sport Officer: sharon.kelly@dublincity.ie  
Gareth Herbert, Sport Officer: gareth.herbert@dublincity.ie  
Michael Moore, Soccer: michael.moore@fai.ie  
Marc Kenny, Soccer: marc.kenny@fai.ie  

P
age 119

mailto:shauna.mcintyre@dublin@dublincity.ie
mailto:aideen.oconnor@dublin@dublincity.ie
mailto:alan.morrin@dublincity.ie
mailto:martin.mcdonagh@dublincity.ie
mailto:cormac.healy@dublincity.ie
mailto:igor.khmil@dublincity.ie
mailto:catherine.flood@dublincity.ie
mailto:william.morris@dublincity.ie
mailto:sharon.kelly@dublincity.ie
mailto:gareth.herbert@dublincity.ie
mailto:michael.moore@fai.ie
mailto:marc.kenny@fai.ie


10 
 

David Rake, Soccer: david.rake@fai.ie  
Ed Griffin, Boxing: shandygriffin@hotmail.com  
Fintan McAllister, Cricket: fintan.mcallister@cricketleinster.ie  
Gareth Murray, Rugby: gareth.murray@leinsterrugby.ie  
 

Report by 

Dee O’Boyle  

Dublin City Sport & Wellbeing Partnership: dee.oboyle@dublincity.ie 

 

  

 

P
age 120

mailto:david.rake@fai.ie
mailto:shandygriffin@hotmail.com
mailto:fintan.mcallister@cricketleinster.ie
mailto:gareth.murray@leinsterrugby.ie
mailto:dee.oboyle@dublincity.ie


 
       Development Department, 
       Civic Offices. 
        
         
                      6th November 2019 
          
To: The Chairman and Members of   
South Central Area Committee 
 
Meeting:  20th November 2019     
 
Item No. 
 

 
With reference to the proposed grant of licence of Car Park Space No. 4 at La 
Rochelle Car Park, Lamb Alley, Dublin 8. 
  

 
By way of Agreement dated 16th February 2017 Dublin City Council granted a licence 
of Car Space No. 4 at La Rochelle Car Park, Lamb Alley, Dublin 8 to Marianne 
Sheridan for a period of 12 months commencing 1st January 2017 and subject to a 
monthly licence fee of €130 plus service charges. 
 
The licence expired on 31st December 2017 and Property Management Section was 
notified that Marianne Sheridan no longer required the use of the car parking space 
and that Debbie Pearce wished to use the car parking space from 1st January 2018.  
 
Accordingly it is now proposed to grant a licence for Car Park Space No. 4 as shown 
on Map Index No. SM2019-0402-002 to Debbie Pearce for a term of 3 years subject 
to the following terms and conditions: 
 

1. The licence shall be for a period of 3 years commencing 1st January 2018. 
 

2. The licence fee shall be €130 per month for the space for the period 01/01/18 
– 31/12/18 and €150 per month for the space for the remainder of the licence 
payable by direct debit. 

 
3. The licensee shall use the car space for the purposes of parking one standard 

car thereon. 
 

4. The licensee shall discharge to Dublin City Council the annual service charge 
associated with the car parking space.  For the term of the licence the annual 
service charge fee has been calculated at €359.29 which shall be payable by 
direct debit. 
 

5. Each party shall be responsible for their own costs in this regard. 
 

6. The licensee shall adhere to all standard rules and regulations set out by 
Dublin City Council to ensure the proper workings of the car park. 

Page 121



 
7. The licensee shall insure any vehicle/s (including the contents thereof) to be 

parked on the licensed area. The licensee hereby indemnifies Dublin City 
Council against any losses costs, claims, damages or proceedings 
howsoever arising in connection with the granting of this licence including, but 
not limited to, the theft of goods from such vehicle/s or damage to such 
vehicle/s and acknowledges that Dublin City Council bears no responsibility in 
this regard.  
 

8. The licence shall contain all standard terms and conditions as usually 
contained in such City Council licences and any other terms and conditions 
deemed appropriate by the Council’s Law Agent. 

 
9. On the signing of the agreement the licensee shall be given a car park fob (if 

they do not already have one) which must be returned on the expiration of 
this agreement. 
 

10.  The car space is to be left in a clean and tidy condition on the termination of 
this agreement. 

 
 
Paul Clegg 
_____________________________ 
Acting Assistant Chief Executive 

Page 122



 
       Development Department, 
       Civic Offices. 
        
         
                      6th November 2019 
 
          
To: The Chairman and Members of   
South Central Area Committee 
 
Meeting:  20th November 2019     
 
Item No. 
 

 
With reference to the proposed grant of a licence of Car Park Space Nos. 6, 7 & 
50 La Rochelle Car Park, Lamb Alley, Dublin 8. 
  

 
By way of Agreement dated 2nd March 2017 Dublin City Council granted a licence of 
Car Parking Space Nos. 50 & 51 at La Rochelle Car Park, Lamb Alley, Dublin 8 to 
Synnott Lawline Solicitors for a period of 12 months commencing 1st December 2016 
and subject to a monthly licence fee of €130 per car space plus service charges. 
 
The licence expired on 30th November 2017 and Property Management Section was 
notified that Synnott Lawline wished to continue its use of two spaces and to apply 
for a third for a period of three years from 1st January 2018.    
 
Accordingly it is now proposed to grant a licence for Car Park Space Nos. 6, 7 & 50 
as shown on Map Index No. SM2019-0402-001 to Synnott Lawline Solicitors for a 
term of 3 years subject to the following terms and conditions: 
 

1. The licence shall be for a period of 3 years commencing 1st January 2018. 
 

2. The licence fee shall be €130 per month per car park space for the period 
01/01/18 – 31/12/18 and €150 per month per car park space for the 
remainder of the licence period payable by direct debit. 

 
3. The licensee shall use the car park spaces for the purposes of parking one 

standard car on each and for no other purpose.  
 

4. The licensee shall discharge to Dublin City Council the annual service charge 
associated with the car parking space.  For the term of the licence the annual 
service charge fee has been calculated at €359.29 which shall be payable by 
direct debit. 
 

5. Each party shall be responsible for their own costs in this regard. 
 

Page 123



6. The licensee shall adhere to all standard rules and regulations set out by 
Dublin City Council to ensure the proper workings of the car park. 
 

7. The licensee shall insure any vehicle/s (including the contents thereof) to be 
parked on the licensed area. The licensee hereby indemnifies Dublin City 
Council against any losses costs, claims, damages or proceedings 
howsoever arising in connection with the granting of this licence including, but 
not limited to, the theft of goods from such vehicle/s or damage to such 
vehicle/s and acknowledges that Dublin City Council bears no responsibility in 
this regard.  
 

8. The licence shall contain all standard terms and conditions as usually 
contained in such City Council licences and any other terms and conditions 
deemed appropriate by the Council’s Law Agent. 

 
9. On the signing of the agreement the licensee shall be given a car park fob (if 

they do not already have one) which must be returned on the expiration of 
this agreement. 
 

10.  The car park spaces are to be left in a clean and tidy condition on the 
termination of this agreement. 

 
 
Paul Clegg 
_____________________________ 
Acting Assistant Chief Executive 
 
 

Page 124



Page 125



Page 126



                                                                

Conservation Section, Planning & Property Development Department 
Civic Offices, Wood Quay, Dublin 8  

 
An Rannóg Caomhantais, An Roinn Pleanála & Forbairt Maoine 

Oifigí na Cathrach, An Ché Adhmaid, Baile Átha Cliath 8 
T. 01 222 3927  F. 01 222 2830  

 

 
 

 
Date: 30/10/19 
 
To the Chairperson and Members of the South Central Area Committee  
 

 
 Initiation of the Statutory Process for the Proposed Addition of the Former Guinness Power 
Station, Guinness Brewery, James’s Street, Dublin 8 to the Record of Protected Structures 

in accordance with Section 54 and 55 of the Planning and Development Act, 2000 (as 
amended) 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

 
Photograph of Structure:  

 

 
 
Introduction: 
It is proposed to initiate procedures under Section 55 of the Planning & Development Act 2000 as 
amended to add the former Guinness Power Station, Guinness Brewery, James’s Street, Dublin 8 
to Dublin City Council’s Record of Protected Structures.  
 
Name and Address of Owner: Diageo Ireland, St James’s Gate, Ushers, Dublin 8 
 

Page 127



                                                                

Name of Applicants:  

 Minister for Culture, Heritage and the Gaeltacht on the 9th of August 2017. 
 

Summary of Applicant’s Reasons for Seeking Addition:  

 Minister for Culture, Heritage and the Gaeltacht: List of recommendations for inclusion on the 
RPS of structures deemed as being of ‘Regional’ significance or higher identified during Stage 
2 of the Dublin Survey carried out by the National Inventory of Architectural Heritage. The 
Former Guinness Power Station, Guinness Brewery, James’s Street, Dublin 8 has been 
assigned a National rating. The Stage 2 recommendations were issued to Dublin City Council 
on the 9th of August 2017. 

 
Addition of Significant 20th Century Structures:  
Policy CHC3 of the Dublin City Development Plan 2016-2022 provides as follows: To identify and 
protect exceptional buildings of the late twentieth century; to categorise, prioritise and, where 
appropriate, add to the RPS. Dublin City Council will produce guidelines and offer advice for 
protection and appropriate refurbishment. 
 
In August 2017, the Minister recommended that this structure be included on Dublin City Council’s 
RPS. The Former Guinness Power Station, James’s Street has been assigned a National rating by 
the NIAH 
 
Following on from the above, in June 2018, the Conservation Section carried out a screening 
process for the 20th century Stage 2 Ministerial Recommendations (137 in total). These were then 
screened for National and high level Regional significance using the criteria provided in the 
Architectural Heritage Protection Guidelines 2011. Twenty-eight significant structures were 
identified to be prioritised for addition including this structure.  
 
Site Location & Zoning Map: 
The former Guinness Power Station is located on the north side of James’s Street within the 
Guinness Brewery site. 

 
 
Zoning map: The subject building is zoned in Z7: To provide for the protection and creation of 
industrial uses and facilitate opportunities for employment creation. 
The site is located within Strategic Development and Regeneration Area (SDRA) 16 – Liberties 
(including Newmarket and Digital Hub). SDRAs represent significant areas of the inner and outer 

Page 128



                                                                

city with substantial development capacity and the potential to deliver the residential, employment 
and recreational needs of the city. 
 
Recent Planning History:  
Planning Ref Description Decision 

2504/17 Permission for change of use (from former Guinness Power House to 
Distillery including Visitor experience) of the Guinness Power House 
Building James's Street, Dublin 8 at lower ground, upper ground and 1st 
floor levels of the existing building. The proposed development includes a 
cladded extension at 1st floor level (concealed to James's Street by 
existing brick parapet) the proposed cladded enclosure is 8.06m in height 
above external ground level (21.37M O.D.) and shall accommodate staff 
facilities and provide a double height space for tall vessels (to be located 
below at upper ground level), new visitor entrance (upper ground level) and 
3 no. new windows at 1st floor level to east facing facade, minor alterations 
to south and west facing facades including 1 no. new doorway (south 
facade), 1 no. new doorway (west facade), removal of existing steel flue 
from roof level, external bollard lights and up-lighting to existing facades, 
new vehicle set-down area fronting James's Street, hard and soft 
landscaping, 2 no. disabled parking spaces and associated site works 
including drainage works, demolition of existing sheds in delivery service 
yard to north of building and the installation of 2 no. external vessels 
(approximately 4 metres in height). The proposed visitor Experience shall 
be composed of the following elements: reception / ticketing, exhibition 
area, guided tour over process (distillery area), tasting bar retail area and 
support facilities all to be located at upper ground and first floor levels - the 
total internal area of the proposed development is approximately 3, 133m2. 
The proposed development is located within a site which has an approved 
IE (Industrial Emissions) Licence (Ref No. P0301 - 04). 

GRANT PERMISSION 
10-May-2017 

2940/18 Permission for amendments and minor additions to previously approved 
scheme (Planning Register Reference 2504/17) for change of use from 
power station to distillery and visitor experience as a result of design 
development. The amendments and additions include following: 1. 
Enlargement of existing window opening in south facing facade to form 
new entrance to visitor experience (relocation from east elevation as per 
previously approved scheme). 2. Internal alterations to previously approved 
internal layouts at lower ground, upper ground and first floor levels. 3. 
Addition of proposed support kitchen (18n2) at upper ground floor level to 
provide offering to previously approved bar function. 4.Modifications and 
change in configuration of previously approved proposed first floor 
extension to the west elevation. 5. Addition of external fire escape 
staircase to west elevation serving 1st floor accommodation to external 
upper ground floor level. 6. Addition of proposed new security fencing 
including turnstiles. 7. Removal of 2no. existing disused flues and roof 
mounted plant (visible from James's Street). 8. Replacement of existing 
‘Guinness’; sign to south facade with proposed backlit ‘Roe & Co.’ sign and 
proposed backlit ‘Distilling Company’ sign above proposed entrance to 
visitor experience (south facade. 9. Proposed external lighting (uplighters 
and downlighters) to south facade. 10. Modification of previously approved 
changes to existing facade to east, including the omission of one 
previously approved visitor entrance doorway and the omission of one 
previously approved new window to former boiler house, enlargement of 
existing external doorway to stairwell and change from opaque to clear 
glass to existing window to stairwell. 11. Minor changes to external 
landscaping and drainage layouts. 12. Addition of proposed external plant 
(fin fans) at first floor level to west elevation. 13. Addition of external fire 
escape and access staircase to north elevation serving upper ground floor 
level to external lower ground floor level (service yard), new roller shutter 
(in existing opening) external chiller unit and grain conveying system also 
to be installed in existing service yard to north. Reconfiguration of 2 no. 
previously approved external vessels addition of a third external vessel. 14. 
Addition of mechanical vents through existing flat roof structures, proposed 
AC condenser and associated ladders, demountable balustrading, 
stainless steel barrier rails, ships ladders, and steps for safe access for 
maintenance purposes only to lower roof levels, extract and intake louvers 
to the east and west elevations. The proposed development is located 

GRANT PERMISSION 
14-Aug-2018 

Page 129



                                                                

Planning Ref Description Decision 

within a site which has an approved IE (Industrial Emissions) Licence (Ref 
No. P0301-04). 

 
Recent Enforcement History: 
There is no enforcement history on file for the property. 
 
Summary Description:   
A letter requesting access to undertake an inspection dated 30th July 2019 was issued to Diageo 
Ireland. A site inspection was carried out on 28th August 2019. 
 
Exterior: Detached five-bay split-level former power station, built 1946-9, comprising central 
single-storey-over basement turbine room to south flanked by lower single-storey wings, taller 
boiler house flanked by lower two-bay double-height wings to rear (north) and paired tapered red 
brick octagonal chimneystacks adjoining at ground floor to rear. Single-storey additions with five-
bay side elevations (1983) to east and west of front block and single-storey addition above eastern 
wing c.1990. Dummy wall constructed above western wing to match eastern section with extension 
constructed within it c.2018. Flat felt-covered roofs, hidden by brick parapets with carved granite 
coping and brick niches to corners of boiler house. Brick walls, laid to English garden wall bond 
(five rows of stretchers to one row of headers) with granite plinth to south elevation and granite 
platband at ground floor level to all elevations. Brick course to tops of walls laid to soldier course 
with curved specials to boiler house. Brick specials, both bull-nose and angled, used to corners of 
sections of building. Black brick to top of chimneystacks. Square-headed window openings 
throughout with mix of granite and red brick sills, soldier bricks to lintels and steel windows; some 
replacement windows to north elevation; louvers to windows at lower ground floor level to east and 
west elevations. Central windows to north and south elevations of boiler house have raised brick 
surrounds with bullnose detailing. Louvered vents above windows to boiler house, housed within 
same openings. Former square-headed door opening to centre of turbine house, now comprises 
windows and single-leaf door. Square-headed door opening inserted to east side of south elevation 
with steel double doors. Square-headed door opening to east elevation of 1983 extension, 
accessed by steps; now blocked. Square-headed door opening to north elevation with steel roller 
shutter. Square-headed door opening to east elevation with raised brick surround and replacement 
double steel doors. 
 
Interior: Interior has been part converted to use as a distillery and visitors centre. The plan of the 
building comprises a lower ground floor, upper ground floor (accessed from ground level to south) 
and a first floor (confined to 1990s extension above east wing and 2018 extension above west 
wing. The lower ground floor and upper ground floors continue through both the turbine house and 
boiler house. Walls are plastered to sections currently in use with exposed brick to unused sections 
of boiler house; structure of building clearly visible to boiler house comprising a skeleton frame of 
vertical steel columns and horizontal beams with brick infill. The columns bear the manufacturer’s 
mark ‘APPLEBY-FRODINGHAM ENGLAND’. Exposed precast concrete ceiling to all areas.  
Section of overhead gantry crane survives to turbine hall at its southern end including winch. 
Square-headed window openings with mix of granite sills and curved brick sills. Tiled concrete 
stairs to northeast corner of turbine hall. Remains of tiled flooring to east side of boiler house. Box 
structure inserted at south end of boiler house on upper ground floor containing bar. Machinery 
surviving to Boiler House including series of control panels along walls of bar area with ‘B. 
McDONNELL Ltd. CONTROL PANEL MANUFACTURERS BLUEBELL DUBLIN 12’. A turbine 
survives which has been incorporated into a table. The Boiler House contains the remains of 
machinery relating to its historic function including steam boilers bearing the nameplate 
‘BABCOCK OBERHAUSEN’. Metal stairs and gantry walkways also survive to the space. The 
entry to the steel tunnel beneath James’s Street is still present, though inaccessible. A valve 
survives within the corridor near the access relating to the transfer of steam from the Power Station 
to the manufacturing areas to the south of James’s Street. 
 

Page 130



                                                                

Front Site: Building is set back from street, slightly angled from the building line of the surrounding 
properties. Site bounded by steel railings on granite plinth, interrupted by brick piers with soldier 
course to top and carved granite capping and bases; plan of railings is slightly curved towards 
centre. Central vehicular entrance comprising steel gates flanked by red brick piers and pedestrian 
gates. 
 
Rear Site: Rear site bounded by steel railing on brick plinth with concrete steps leading to lower 
level of site. Plant relating to distillery located to rear of building.  
  
NIAH and Ministerial Recommendations for Guinness Power Station, Guinness Brewery, 
James Street, Dublin 8 
 

 

Reg. No. 50080324 

Date 1945 - 1950 

Previous 
Name 

Guinness Power 
Station 

Townland 
 

County Dublin City 

Coordinates 314214, 233990 

Categories of 
Special 
Interest 

ARCHITECTURAL 
HISTORICAL 
SOCIAL TECHNICAL 

Rating National 

Original Use turbine house 
 

Description: Detached five-bay split-level power station, built 1948, comprising central single-storey 
projecting turbine room flanked by lower single-storey wings to front (south), taller boiler house block 
flanked by lower two-bay double-height wings to rear (north), octagonal-profile industrial chimneys 
adjoining building at ground floor level to rear. Five-bay single-storey extension to east and west elevations 
of front blocks, single-bay single-storey extension at first floor level to east of front block, matching screen 
wall at first floor level to west of front block. Now disused. Flat roofs throughout, hidden behind raised brick 
parapets with carved granite coping, brick fluting to corners. Brown brick, laid in English garden wall bond, 
to walls. Square-headed brick niches to front of central boiler house block, and to later extensions. Cut 
granite platband to ground floor level. Cut granite plinth course to front. 'GUINNESS' insignia over entrance 
to front. Black brick to top of chimneys. Square-headed window openings with granite sills, steel windows 
and replacement uPVC windows. Bull-nosed brick surround to vertical strip windows to central bay to front 
and rear of boiler house. Square-headed door opening with steel roller shutter, flanked by vertical strip 
windows with overlight, all with chamfered reveals to front. Square-headed door opening with raised red 
brick surround and double-leaf glazed timber door to east elevation. Square-headed door opening with red 
brick surround and glazed timber double-leaf doors to east elevation. Square-headed door opening with 
steel door, accessed via red brick and concrete steps to east extension. Access internally to bolted steel 
tunnel under James's Street, leading to egress in brewery yard south of Saint James's Gate. Set in own 
grounds, having square-profile red brick piers with carved granite capping and bases, flanking double-leaf 
steel gates with matching pedestrian gates to either side, to front. Matching railings interrupted by red brick 
piers. 

Appraisal: This well-composed mid-century industrial building was designed by F. P. M. Woodhouse, the 
Guinness in-house architect, with the engineering firm of Sir Alexander Gibb and Partners. A replacement 
boiler house was required in 1943 but construction was delayed until after the war. The Guinness Brewery 
had previously produced all its own electricity in a power station on the Upper Level, but due to changing 
requirements and the economies of scale of the ESB's electricity production at the new Pigeon House 
Power Station, the new plant was designed with reverters to allow for the supply or extraction of electricity 
by the ESB. In addition, due to post-war coal shortages and fuel insecurity, it was designed with both a coal 
conveyor leading from Victoria Quay (destroyed in a fire in 1951) and oil storage tanks. It is representative 
of the ongoing development and expansion of the Guinness enterprise, and its increased power 
requirements. Its formidable scale and massing make it a striking presence on the streetscape. The 
building is of technological interest for its construction as well as its function - it incorporates structural 
steelwork and reinforced concrete under its Kingscourt brick cladding. Displaying Art Deco design features, 
it makes an important contribution to the architectural character of the area. The building remained in use 
until the late 1990s, when it was replaced by a gas fired C.H.P. plant. It is connected to the south side of 
Saint James's Street by a bolted steel tunnel manufactured by Harland and Wolff. 

Page 131



                                                                

 
Summary of Historical Background:  
The Guinness Brewery is the largest industrial complex in Dublin city centre, covering a site of 
almost 60 acres at the west end of the quays, and with two distinct areas north and south of 
James’s Street. The area to the south of James’s Street was leased in 1759, with gradual 
expansion in the nineteenth-century pushing the boundaries further east. From the mid-1880s to 
the early 1900s, the brewery was extensively rebuilt. A new power station for the Brewery was 
commissioned in 1943 to replace an existing power station, located near the Grand Canal Harbour. 
By the early 1940s it had become apparent that the existing power station was no longer fit for 
purpose. 
 
An English architect F.P.M. Woodhouse, who was the in-house architect for Arthur Guinness and 
Sons, designed the power station. Woodhouse died suddenly in 1946, when construction of the 
power station was underway. Sir Alexander Gibb and Partners were appointed as engineers to the 
project in 1945 and the contractors were McLaughlin and Harvey. 
 
The design of the Guinness Power Station was obviously influenced by similar English structures 
of the 1930s and 1940s. Sir Alexander Gibb and Partners worked with Sir Giles Gilbert Scott on 
the construction of the Guinness Brewery in London (1933-5), which the Power Station bears some 
resemblance to. Scott was the architect on a number of power stations in England including 
Battersea (1929-33), Southbank (1947-63) and Rye House (1953-4). Cliff Quay Power Station, 
Ipswich was designed by Sir Alexander Gibb and Partners (1949-52) with stepped floor levels, 
vertical windows and the symmetrical arrangement of chimneystacks bearing resemblance to the 
Guinness Power Station.  
 
War shortages had an impact on construction of the power station. Cement and steel were in short 
supply as both were rationed and were increasingly expensive. A shortage of coal after the war 
encouraged research into alternative fuels. As a result, the new power plant boilers were designed 
to work with both oil and coal. A coal conveyor was provided, leading to Victoria Quay.  
 
Similar to many of the power stations built in England in the mid-twentieth century, the steel-frame 
was clad in brick with one million Kingscourt ‘rustic’ bricks used, including 250,000 special order 
bricks for curved and angled corners, which were used to create variety in the window opes. NORI 
acid resistant engineering bricks were used to the interior of the chimneys and a hardwearing fire 
resistant block called Granwood was used for the flooring. The interior was tiled to a height of 1.9m 
with plaster above. The coal conveyor was sheeted in copper with copper also used on hipped 
roofs to the upper levels; the remainder of the roofs were felt-covered. The windows were 
galvanised steel. The building, when completed, comprised a turbine house (to the south) with a 
boiler house located to the north, on the lower slope of the site, a switching room and ancillary 
spaces with two tapering octagonal chimneystacks flanking the north elevation.  
 
The coal conveyor was damaged by fire and replaced by an elevator in the early 1950s. An image 
dating to 1959 shows the building following its removal. The copper-clad structure to the roof of the 
boiler house was replaced in a brick structure with flat roof hidden by parapet wall similar to that of 
the boiler house. The higher level above the boiler house was also rebuilt; it was extended 
southwards by one bay and its hipped roof was replaced by a flat roof. Further extensions to the 
Power Station were carried out in 1983 and 1990. In 1983 two flat-roofed single-bay single-storey 
extensions were constructed on either side of the turbine house. These were built of similar 
materials to the original structure, with their south elevations set back slightly. In 1990 a single 
storey structure was constructed to the east side of the turbine house, above the single-storey 
block constructed as part of the original building. This is constructed of brick with strip brick 
recesses reflecting the windows and vents of the main building. A matching ‘dummy wall’ was built 
on the west wing to balance the south elevation. The building remained in use until c.1993, when it 
was replaced by a gas-fired C.H.P. plant. In 2018, the Power Station was converted to a distillery 

Page 132



                                                                

and visitor centre for Roe & Co. Under this project, an extension was constructed above the 1983 
western extension, behind the 1990 dummy wall. 

  

Power House, St James’s Gate Brewery, Dublin 1946-9 
(Copyright – A. Guinness Son & Co. Ltd.; Image sourced 
in Irish Architectural Archive). This image, taken shortly 
after the building’s completion, shows the copper roofs to 
the upper sections and the coal conveyor to the rear of the 
Boiler House. 

Image of Power Station dated 1959 from The Guinness 
Harp Bicentenary Issue 1759-1959; note the coal conveyor 
and copper roofs have been removed and the structure 
above the Boiler House is no longer clad in copper. 

 
References:  

 Casey, C. Dublin: The City within the Grand and Royal Canals and the Circular Road with the 
Phoenix Park, New Haven, CT, and London, 2005 

 Delany, B, Carroll, P & Doherty, J. A Heritage Inventory of ESB Buildings, Dublin 2005 

 Department of Culture, Heritage and the Gaeltacht An Introduction to the Architectural Heritage 
of Dublin South City, Dublin 2017 

 de Róiste, Natalie, 'Guinness Power Plant, Dublin 8, 1949’ in Ellen Rowley (ed.), More Than 
Concrete Blocks, Volume 2, 1940 – 1973, Dublin 2019 

 Irish Architect – June July August 1988 

 The Guinness Harp Bicentenary Issue 1759-1959 (Journal of the Home of Guinness, St 
James’s Gate, Dublin, May-June 1959 

 Rynne, C. Industrial Ireland 1750-1930: An Archaeology, Cork 2006 
 
Significance/NIAH Rating:  
The National Inventory of Architectural Heritage (NIAH) has been carried out for this area. The 
NIAH uses eight categories of special interest (architectural, historical, archaeological, artistic, 
cultural, scientific, technical & social) and identifies five categories of rating in seeking to rank 
buildings. The NIAH rating values are International, National, Regional, Local and Record Only (I, 
N, R, L, O). Structures which are considered of International, National, and Regional significance 
are deemed worthy of inclusion on the RPS.  
 
The NIAH has assigned the Former Guinness Power Station, Guinness Brewery a National rating. 
These are structures and sites that are considered to be of great architectural heritage significance 
in an Irish context. Examples include Ardnacrusha Power Station, Co. Clare; the Ford Factory, 
Cork; Carroll's Factory, Dundalk; Lismore Castle, Co. Waterford; Sligo Courthouse, Sligo; and Emo 
Court, Co. Laois.  

 
As a result, the building included in the list of Ministerial Recommendations for inclusion on the 
RPS of structures deemed as being of ‘Regional’ significance or higher identified during Stage 2 of 
the Dublin Survey. The Stage 2 Ministerial Recommendations were issued to Dublin City Council 

Page 133



                                                                

on the 9th of August 2017, in accordance with Section 53 of the Planning and Development Act, 
2000 (as amended).   
 
Assessment of Special Interest under the Planning and Development Act 2000:  
The National Inventory of Architectural Heritage (NIAH) assigned this building ARCHITECTURAL, 
HISTORICAL, SOCIAL and TECHNICAL interest; referred to in the Significance/NIAH Rating 
section of the report above.   
 
Following an inspection of the site on 28th August 2019, the Conservation Section has considered 
the rating and recommendation of the NIAH and is in agreement with the four categories of special 
interest assigned. The former Guinness Power Station is considered to be of special interest under 
the following headings:  
 

 ARCHITECTURAL:  
- The former Guinness Power Station, though envisaged as a functional industrial building, is 

a well-composed structure with a near symmetrical footprint which clearly demonstrates 
good quality architectural design. The building exhibits influences of Modernist architecture 
with one of the overarching principles of this style being that ‘form follows function’. This is 
apparent in the juxtaposition of the different components of the Power Station with the tall 
boiler house, the lower turbine house to the south flanked by service blocks and the two lofty 
tapering octagonal chimneystacks symmetrically placed to the north elevation. Further traits 
of modern architecture can be seen in the emphasis on horizontal and vertical lines, the 
large windows set in horizontal bands and the use of rectangular shapes in its form. Art 
Deco influences can be seen in the use of curved corners to elements of the Boiler House, 
the stepped profile formed by the positioning of the different building components and the 
use of geometric motifs in the limited decorative elements. This decorative treatment can be 
seen to the upper levels of the boiler house, the south-facing walls of the 1990 extensions 
and the soldier courses at parapet level. Further subtle decoration is afforded through the 
use of brick specials to form window opes which adds interest to the façade and also infers 
an Art Deco influence on the design. “The power station is one of a number of well-designed 
structures within the Guinness Brewery’s extensive complex which attest to the company’s 
interest in constructing buildings of merit.” (deRóiste 2019, 121) 

 
- The power station was built to designs by the Guinness in-house architect F.P.M 

Woodhouse, together with the engineering firm Sir Alexander Gibbs & Partners. Woodhouse 
passed away in 1946 and while there are few other known examples of his work, the firm of 
Gibbs and Partners were a prolific engineering firm in Britain who had worked with Sir Giles 
Gilbert Scott, an eminent English modernist architect, on the Guinness Brewery in London 
and also designed a power station in Ipswich. The Guinness Power Station is noted as 
bearing a striking resemblance to power stations of that era in England including the 
celebrated Southbank Power Station in London, designed by Scott. The association of such 
a prominent engineering firm with the building adds to its significance.  

 
- Internally the building continued to follow the premise that ‘form follows function’ with 

specific areas of the building designated to specific uses. A fire resistant brick was used to 
the floors while the walls were tiled at lower level with plaster above. The walls to the boiler 
house were left exposed. The attention to detail exhibited in the treatment of the interior to 
suit its functional requirements further strengthens the building’s architectural significance.  

 

- The form and scale of the building affords it an imposing presence on James’s Street, 
though its position set back from the street line and the lower turbine hall to the front does 
allow for a more harmonious relationship with the surrounding building proportions. Its brick 
construction respects the earlier brick-built Guinness buildings facing it from the south side 
of James’s Street. The well-crafted railings, gate piers and gates add interest to the 
streetscape. Its height above Victoria Quay to the north, aided by the natural slope of the 

Page 134



                                                                

topography, renders its scale and massing even more commanding from the River Liffey 
and its quays.  

 
 HISTORICAL:  

- There was a major impetus to provide electricity across Ireland in the middle decades of the 
twentieth century, which is considered one of the significant advances and vehicle for social 
change in the country. The construction of the Guinness Power Station is therefore of 
socio-historical importance, occurring amongst a notable phase in the evolution of the Irish 
State. Though constructed as a private enterprise to serve the Guinness Brewery, the 
company were the first private company to include the capacity to sell electricity to the ESB 
in the construction of a power source. Furthermore, the techniques and materials used to 
construct the power station were also being used by the ESB in the construction of new 
power stations at the time. The structure is therefore of interest due to its connection with 
the continuing electrification of Ireland in the mid-twentieth century. 

 
- The commissioning and design of the Power Station occurred against the backdrop of the 

Second World War which had an impact on the materials used in its construction as well as 
decisions on fuel for powering the boilers. Steel and concrete were rationed and therefore 
expensive, though steel was used in its structure and floors/ceilings were reinforced 
concrete. The shortage of coal due to the war also influenced the installation of boilers that 
could run on oil as well as the provision of oil tanks. Historical interest can be assigned to 
the building through the influence of this seminal world event in the twentieth century on its 
design and construction. 

 
- Though the building has lost some elements of machinery, there are notable survivors 

within the boiler house and a surviving section of overhead gantry crane to the turbine hall. 
The survival of these elements of mid-twentieth century machinery adds to the historical 
significance of the site.  

 

 SOCIAL:  
- Social significance to the structure can be attributed through its connection to the Guinness 

Brewery. The power station was constructed to meet the increased power requirements of 
the Brewery which was expanding and developing through the twentieth century and was 
one of the foremost employers in Dublin at this time.  

 

 TECHNICAL:  
- The construction techniques used in the building, though not revolutionary, are still of 

technical interest due to being an exemplar of mid twentieth-century power station 
construction. Similar to the noteworthy power stations in Britain at the time, it was 
constructed using a steel frame, clad in brick. The layout of the building including the 
provision of the towering chimneystacks was influenced by the technology for creating 
power at the time.  

 
- The survival of machinery and plant within the structure relating to the processes of 

providing power to the brewery adds technical and industrial heritage value to the site. This 
includes the surviving steel tunnel beneath James’s Street, constructed by Harland and 
Wolff, which carried steam pipes and personnel to the Guinness buildings on the south side 
of the street. 

 
Conclusion: 
The Conservation Section has considered the Ministerial Recommendation and the applicants’ 
reasons for seeking addition and concludes that having reviewed the site it is recommended that 
the former Guinness Power Station, Guinness Brewery, James’s Street, Dublin 8 be proposed for 

Page 135



                                                                

addition to the City Council’s Record of Protected Structures. The metal railings and gates to the 
front site should also be included in the protection of the site.  
 
The purpose of this report is to attain the approval of the South Central Area Committee of Dublin 
City Council for the initiation of the statutory process for the proposed addition of this structure to 
the Record of Protected Structures. This includes undertaking a statutory public consultation 
process in accordance with Section 55 of the Act. Following the statutory consultation process, a 
further report will be prepared taking any submissions and observations received into 
consideration, with a recommendation to the City Council to proceed or not with the proposed 
addition, or with a recommendation including amendments to the proposed addition.  
 
Recommendation:  
It is recommended that the south section of the former Guinness Power Station, Guinness 
Brewery, James’s Street, including the gates and railings to its front site be added to the Record of 
Protected Structures, in accordance with Section 54 and 55 of the Planning and Development Act, 
2000 (as amended).  
 

Recommendation 

Address Description (to appear on RPS) 

 92 James’s Street, Dublin 8 Former Guinness Power Station including gates 
and railings 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  
Paraic Fallon                                                         Date:  01/11/2019 
Senior Planner 
 

Page 136



                                                                

Extent of Protected Structure Status & Curtilage 

 
 

 

Aerial Photograph showing location of building 

 
 
 
 

Page 137



                                                                

Photographs: 

  
View of Power Station from south South elevation from southeast 

  
East elevation from southeast North elevation from northeast 

  

Chimney from northeast Curved brick to original southeast corner of turbine 
hall 

Page 138



                                                                

 

 
Brick detail to south elevation of boiler house  

 

 

View of turbine hall looking south with distillery 
equipment installed 

View of gantry crane to turbine hall from northeast 

 

 
Detail of section of gantry crane View of stairs from ground floor 
 

Page 139



                                                                

 

 

Boiler House looking south showing box for bar 
inserted to space 

Machinery to interior of boiler house 

  
Valve at entrance to tunnel beneath James’s Street Door opening at lower ground floor level with curved 

brick forming reveals 

  
View of Power House Bar looking north Control panels to boiler house incorporated into 

furniture within bar 

Page 140



                                                                

  
View of gate and gate piers Section of railings and granite plinth 

  
View of Power Station from southwest View of Power Station from southeast 

 
View of Power Station from Wolfe Tone Quay to the 
north 

 

Page 141




	Agenda
	1 Minutes of Meeting held on 16th October 2019
	Minutes
	Q & A October 2019

	2 Questions to the Director of Services South City
	3 Roads & Traffic Matters
	Traffic Service Requests

	4 South Central Area Matters
	Dolphin House Phase 2 demolition
	Christmas trees 2019
	Halloween 2019 Report

	5 Community, Culture, Economic and Emergency Services
	Sports Report November 2019

	6 Planning & Economic Development Matters
	Lamb Alley Spaces 6 7  50
	Lamb Alley Map
	Proposed initiation of the addition of the  Former Guinness Power Station James's St


